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About

ToP ENERgY

Top Energy is the electricity generati on and lines network company which 
distributes power to the power consumers of the Far North.

With operati ons throughout the Far North and in Auckland, the company is 
progressive and technically driven with interests in:

• electricity Generati on through our geothermal power plant

• transmission and distributi on lines Network 

• electrical reti culati on Contracti ng

• Customer Contact Centres.

We are one company with a clear vision: From generati on to the light switch, 
providing secure and reliable energy to Far North customers.

top energy is owned by the top energy Consumer trust, on behalf of 31,000 power 
consumers connected to the company’s network. the Group manages assets of 
more	than	$356	million	and	employs	over	200	staff	.
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CHAIRmAN’S
Report

The fi nancial year to 31 March 2014 has been one of the more challenging years for the Top 
Energy Group in recent ti mes. A soft er wholesale electricity market, which will reduce the 
revenue levels achievable for the generator under a new three‑year off take agreement, has 
coincided with a conti nuing downward trend in power consumpti on on the distributi on system. 

Two major health and safety incidents (also referred to in the Chief Executi ve’s Report) 
resulted in a very signifi cant amount of ti me being devoted to health and safety issues and 
staff  retraining requirements. A complete review of the Contracti ng division structure and a 
change to the protocol and working relati onship between Contracti ng and Network adversely 
impacted Contracti ng producti vity and profi tability in the fi nancial year. 

health and safety remains a key focus throughout the Group. While lost time injury (lti) and 
medical	treatment	stati	sti	cs	compare	reasonably	with	industry	averages,	we	need	to	conti	nue	to	
improve	on	current	levels	of	performance.	The	changes	in	the	Contracti	ng	division	and	enhanced	
compliance monitoring are designed to deliver these improvements.

group	 Earnings	 before	 Interest,	 Tax,	 Depreciati	on,	 Amorti	sati	on	 and	 fair	 Value	movements	
(eBitdaF), at $32.0 million, were lower than last year’s result of $32.5 million. over the last 
fi	nancial	year	interest	rates	have	begun	to	increase,	reversing	the	interest	rate	swaps	revaluati	on	
adjustment.	The	results	to	31	march	2014	include	a	positi	ve	non‑cash	valuati	on	adjustment	of	
$6.6	million.	 Consequently,	 profi	t	 aft	er	 Tax	 from	Conti	nuing	operati	ons	of	 $11.1	million	was	
posted	for	the	year,	compared	to	$6.4	million	last	year.

Profi t aft er Tax from 
Conti nuing Operati ons 
of $11.1 million was 
posted for the year, 
compared to $6.4 
million last year
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An	 independent	 valuati	on	 of	 the	 group’s	 Ngawha	
generati	on	 plant	 at	 31	 march	 2014	 resulted	 in	 a	
revaluati	on	 gain	 of	 $56.2	 million	 aft	er	 tax	 being	
recorded in the statement of Comprehensive 
Income.	 The	 Ngawha	 plant	 valuati	on	 of	 $147.6	
million	at	31	march	2014	compared	to	$74.2	million	
at	31	march	2013.

Adverse	weather	conditi	ons,	including	three	extreme	
event days at the beginning and end of the year, placed 
considerable strain on the service levels delivered to 
consumers. network reliability (measured by saidi 
minutes)	was	 465	minutes,	 against	 a	 target	 for	 the	
year	of	340	minutes.	While	a	disappointi	ng	result,	the	
actual	level	achieved	is	sti	ll	well	below	the	regulated	
level for saidi of 580 minutes.

The	 discount	 totalling	 over	 $5	 million	 paid	 to	 our	 consumers	 provided	 most	 residenti	al	
consumers with a credit of around $200 on their november/december 2013 power account 
from their retailer.

The	regulatory	environment	conti	nues	to	be	a	threat	for	all	lines	companies.	A	recent	debate	
around	the	method	of	setti		ng	an	appropriate	level	of	Weighted	Average	Cost	of	Capital	(WACC)	
has created new uncertainty in the industry. the previous price increases permissible for 
top energy allowed considerable pricing headroom to our present lines charges. the Board, 
conscious of the impact rising electricity prices have on our consumers, decided not to increase 
prices to the full extent that the regulator allowed. however, if a lower level of WaCC was to be 
applied, it could remove most of that headroom. 

the Group is currently in the middle of the $200 million network investment originally planned 
for delivery by 2020. the design phase remains generally on track although some delays in 
obtaining	land	access	rights	over	a	number	of	secti	ons	of	the	new	line	are	being	experienced.	

given	lower	Ngawha	off	take	prices,	the	Board	of	Directors	decided	not	to	increase	borrowings	
to	fund	all	capital	projects	scheduled	for	completi	on	over	the	next	fi	ve	years.	As	a	result,	some	
of the network investment programme will be delayed by up to three years.

present	 funding	 levels	are	adequate	with	 some	headroom	and	$87	million	of	 the	 total	$165	
million	bank	faciliti	es	were	renewed	in	early	2014.

mike	Simm	will	reti	re	as	a	director	of	the	group	at	the	upcoming	Annual	general	meeti	ng.	mike	
has been a director for almost 19 years and has been fully involved in key milestones achieved 
by	the	group,	 including	the	purchase	of	the	transmission	assets	from	Transpower,	roll‑out	of	
the	network	plan	and	staged	development	and	expansion	of	Ngawha	generati	on.	During	mike’s	
tenure we have also acquired and developed the Phone Plus call centre business. 

andrew Kelleher has recently resigned as a director, due to increased business commitments. 
Andrew	chaired	the	Audit	and	risk	Committ	ee	of	the	Board.	With	his	reti	rement,	greg	Steed	
will	take	over	the	Chairmanship.	I	wish	to	record	my	thanks	to	both	mike	and	Andrew	for	their	
respecti	ve	positi	ve	contributi	ons	to	Top	Energy	and	wish	them	well	for	the	future.

Two	new	directors,	Alex	Ball	and	Simon	young,	will	be	appointed	to	the	Board	eff	ecti	ve	from	the	
next	Annual	general	meeti	ng.	Alex	has	extensive	experience	both	as	a	director	and	in	senior	
fi	nancial	management	roles,	including	Chief	financial	offi		cer	positi	ons	with	Vector	Limited	and	
TelstraClear	Limited.	Simon	has	had	senior	executi	ve	experience	as	managing	Director	of	Alliant	
energy nZ and governance roles with trustPower limited and the lines Company.

Despite	the	last	year	being	a	parti	cularly	challenging	one	for	the	group,	a	very	creditable	fi	nancial	
performance	was	achieved.	I	wish	to	record	my	appreciati	on	to	all	the	staff		who	have	conti	nued	
to	focus	on	delivery	of	service	to	our	customers,	the	constructi	on	of	the	major	network	upgrades	
that top energy is delivering and the considerable preparatory work that has been involved in 
the	Ngawha	generati	on	expansion	project.

Paul Byrnes
Chairman

The discount totalling 
over $5 million paid 
to our consumers 
provided most 
residenti al consumers 
with a credit of 
around $200

The Group is currently 
in the middle of the 
$200 million network 
investment
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Our

dIRECToRS

Left		to	right:	mike	Simm,	paul	White,	richard	Krogh,	
robert Kirkpatrick, Greg steed, Paul Byrnes.
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Paul Byrnes – Chairman

Paul Byrnes is a professional director and business consultant with over 25 years’ commercial 
experience across a number of industry sectors. Paul has previously held senior management and 
CEo	positi	ons	in	private	and	listed	companies.	he	is	currently	a	non‑executi	ve	director	of	listed	
investment	group	hellaby	holdings	Limited,	and	Executi	ve	Director	and	CEo	of	 listed	 lending	
and	insurance	business	Dorchester	pacifi	c	Limited.	paul	is	a	qualifi	ed	Chartered	Accountant.

Mike Simm – Deputy Chairman

our	Deputy	Chairman,	mike	Simm,	is	also	Chairman	of	mechanical	engineering	company,	the	
Brightwater	group	Limited.	he	has	previously	held	the	positi	ons	of	Deputy	Chairman	at	Jasons	
Travel	media,	 Chairman	 of	 Enterprise	 Northland	 and	 Executi	ve	 Director	 at	 Northland‑based	
tourism venture, Fullers Bay of islands limited.

Andrew Kelleher

Director	Andrew	Kelleher	has	chaired	our	Audit	and	risk	Committ	ee.	he	has	a	strong	background	
in	fi	nancial	services.	With	more	than	20	years’	experience	in	the	fi	nancial	markets,	Andrew	is	a	
current	director	and	shareholder	of	JmIS	Limited	and	a	past	executi	ve	at	ASB	Securiti	es	Limited.	
Andrew	resigned	from	our	Board	in	April	2014.

Greg Steed

Kaitaia‑born	greg	Steed	contributes	a	sound	knowledge	of	business	processes	to	our	Board.	he	
was previously Chairman of the nZ shippers Council and has previously worked at leading forestry 
products	company,	Carter	holt	harvey	Limited,	where	he	held	the	positi	ons	of	manager,	Distributi	on,	
and	manager,	Accounti	ng.	greg	is	a	member	of	our	Audit	and	risk	Committ	ee	and	moves	into	the	
role	of	Chair	of	that	committ	ee,	following	Andrew	Kelleher’s	resignati	on	from	the	Board.

Paul White

paul	 White	 has	 a	 background	 in	 maori	 development,	 housing	 and	 strategic	 planning.	 he	
has	 previously	 been	 Chief	 Executi	ve	 of	 Ngai	 Tahu	 Development	 Corporati	on	 and	 has	 held	
directorships at housing new Zealand and Canterbury district health Board. he is currently the 
Chairman of te rarawa’s asset holding company.

Richard Krogh

richard	Krogh	was	appointed	to	the	Board	in	march	2013.	richard	has	signifi	cant	energy	sector	
experience, having been Ceo of PowerCo limited, new Zealand’s second largest electricity and 
gas	 lines	 business.	he	 is	 also	 a	 former	 chair	 of	 the	 Electricity	Networks	Associati	on	 and	has	
served on a number of industry boards. richard now works as a consultant in the energy sector, 
and is a director of Port taranaki.

Robert Kirkpatrick (Dr) – Independent Director – Ngawha Generati on Limited

robert	has	over	35	years’	experience	in	refi	ning	and	petrochemical	industries.	With	experience	
in	 global	 project	 feasibility	 and	 economics,	 constructi	on	 and	 manufacturing	 operati	ons,	 he	
currently teaches design to chemical engineers at auckland university. robert has a special 
interest in health, safety and the environment. he has a detailed knowledge of the new Zealand 
energy	scene	and	teaches	in	this	area	in	the	Engineering	and	Business	faculti	es.	he	has	previous	
involvement	in	governance	in	secondary	educati	on	and	is	currently	involved	in	governance	in	
the	terti	ary	sector,	and	also	runs	his	own	strategic	consulti	ng	company.
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Working with electricity is inherently dangerous. As an organisati on we have a responsibility 
to ensure the safety of not only our staff , but also the public. Top Energy’s safety record is 
bett er than the lines industry averages in most areas, but this is not good enough for us.

We	set	very	ambiti	ous	targets	for	our	health	and	safety	key	performance	indicators,	aiming	to	
meet or exceed our best performance. in a number of these we did not get to the levels that 
we	had	hoped	we	would.	This	does	not	stop	us	 from	conti	nuing	to	strive	 for	ever‑increasing	
performance with a goal of Zero harm. 

the Group’s eBitdaF, at $32.0 million, was 1.5 per cent lower than the previous year. this result 
refl	ects	a	number	of	challenges	throughout	the	year,	especially	in	the	Network	and	Contracti	ng	
divisions.	Two	health	and	safety	incidents,	one	involving	our	own	staff		and	the	other	involving	a	
member	of	the	public,	resulted	in	signifi	cant	additi	onal	costs	being	incurred.	

We set very ambiti ous 
targets for our health
and safety KPIs, 
aiming to meet or 
exceed our best 
performance

CEo’S REPoRT
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Network	 consumpti	on	 again	 dropped,	 resulti	ng	 in	
revenues being $1.6 million lower than budget and 
lower	than	the	previous	fi	nancial	year.

property	development	 in	 the	district	 conti	nues	 to	
be	 depressed,	 refl	ected	 in	 capital	 contributi	ons	
being more than 15 per cent lower than the 
previous year – that year being at much reduced 
level from those experienced prior to the global 
fi	nancial	crisis.	

Closure of manufacturing plants or material 
reducti	ons	 in	 demand	 of	 major	 electricity	 users,	
such	as	the	aluminium	smelter	at	Bluff		and	the	Norse	
Skog	plant	at	Kawerau,	will	 impact	signifi	cantly	on	
future revenue levels from the ngawha generator. 

While	we	remain	confi	dent	that	wholesale	electricity	prices	will	fi	rm	over	ti	me,	as	the	excess	
supply	is	taken	up	by	general	growth,	the	reduced	cash	to	be	generated	by	the	power	stati	on	
has meant that parts of the Group’s capital programme have had to be delayed for periods of 
one to three years. 

There	has	been	a	very	sati	sfactory	advance	of	the	network	capital	programme	during	the	year	
under	review.	The	new	Cobham	road,	Kerikeri,	substati	on	was	brought	on	line	during	the	year,	
as	was	the	new	Wiroa	substati	on.	only	the	fi	nal	stage	down	rainbow	falls	road	remains	to	be	
completed to enable the ring around Kerikeri. 

We	are	starti	ng	to	see	signifi	cant	benefi	ts	from	the	network	investments	that	we	have	made	
with	improved	security	and	protecti	on	systems,	which	is	expected	to	produce	signifi	cant	savings	
in	the	following	years.	In	additi	on,	aft	er	some	teething	problems	last	year,	the	new	generators	at	
Taipa	have	proven	themselves	over	the	last	year,	avoiding	57	SAIDI	minutes.	

most	of	the	preparatory	work	has	been	completed	to	support	new	resource	consent	applicati	ons	
for	the	expansion	of	the	Ngawha	power	stati	on.	These	applicati	ons	are	expected	to	be	lodged	
in	September	2014.	Currently	Ngawha	operates	as	two	separate	stati	ons	with	combined	output	
totalling	25mW.	It	is	proposed	that	two	new	stati	ons,	each	of	25mW,	be	built,	the	second	stati	on	
being	conti	ngent	on	the	successful	operati	on	of	the	fi	rst.	The	earlier	intenti	on	to	drill	exploratory	
wells	on	the	remuera	Sett	lement	land,	to	the	north	of	State	highway	12,	has	been	delayed	due	
to	the	reducti	on	in	wholesale	prices	referred	to	earlier.	

The	group	undertook	a	review	and	restructure	of	its	operati	ons	during	the	year.	This	led	to	a	
number	of	redundancies,	most	of	which	had	taken	place	by	the	end	of	this	fi	nancial	year.	The	
resulti	ng	structures	will	allow	the	group	to	bett	er	deliver	on	capital	projects	as	well	as	providing	
a	greater	focus	and	control	over	the	health	and	safety	practi	ces	employed	by	our	staff	.	

During	the	year	we	established	new	relati	onships	with	pacifi	c	Island	power	supply	organisati	ons	
and have been able to establish supply chain services to some of these. as the islands look to 
address	the	cost	of	power	generati	on	from	mainly	fossil	fuels,	there	are	further	opportuniti	es	to	
assist	both	the	island	governments	and	our	own	foreign	assistance	organisati	ons	to	install	and	
connect	more	cost‑eff	ecti	ve	soluti	ons.

The	last	fi	nancial	year	has	been	diffi		cult	 in	a	number	of	areas	but	I	want	to	acknowledge	the	
contributi	on	 and	 dedicati	on	 of	 our	 staff		 during	 that	 period.	 I	 am	 confi	dent	 that	 we	 have	 a	
strong and experienced team to carry the Group forward as we complete our network capital 
programme,	conti	nue	to	improve	our	service	level	delivery,	and	obtain	the	resource	consents	
necessary	to	commence	the	expansion	of	the	Ngawha	generati	on	project.

Russell Shaw
Chief Executi ve

There has been a very 
sati sfactory advance 
of the network capital 
programme during 
the year under review

It is proposed that two 
new stati ons, each of 
25MW, be built
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fINANCIAl
Summary

The Group’s fi nancial performance (EBITDAF) was lower than 2013 by 1.5 per cent and lower 
than the 2014 targets. 

revenue	growth	was	3.4	per	cent,	but	 lower	 than	expected	due	 to	a	 reducti	on	 in	electricity	
consumpti	on,	 impacti	ng	 the	 network	 revenue.	 operati	ng	 expenses	 were	 higher	 due	 to	 an	
increase	in	transmission	costs	and	operati	onal	challenges	within	Contracti	ng	following	the	two	
safety incidents early in the year. a restructure programme was completed across the Group in 
the	latt	er	part	of	the	year.	redundancy	costs	were	incurred	but	the	programme	has	positi	oned	
the	group	with	an	improved	operati	onal	structure	and	provided	$800,000	of	savings	for	2015.	

The	group	improved	its	equity	positi	on	by	$67	million	during	the	period,	$11	million	from	profi	t	
and	$56	million	from	the	revaluati	on	of	the	Ngawha	generati	on	plant	to	refl	ect	the	fair	value	of	
the	generati	on	business	of	$149.5	million.

operati	ng	cash	fl	ows	reduced	by	$2.4	million	to	$21.1	million	as	a	result	of	the	lower	fi	nancial	
performance and higher interest costs. investments in the Group’s assets of $26.9 million were 
made,	with	the	additi	onal	cash	required	provided	from	the	group’s	debt	faciliti	es.

The	 2015	 forecast	 shows	 a	 reducti	on	 in	 EBITDAf	 as	 a	 result	 of	 the	 change	 in	 the	 electricity	
wholesale	price	which	is	expected	to	reduce	the	Ngawha	generati	on	revenue	by	19	per	cent.	
The	 impact	 is	expected	to	be	minimised	by	 improving	cost	effi		ciencies	(per	above),	assessing	
investment	programmes	and	renegoti	ati	ng	the	interest	cover	bank	covenant.	

FY2012, FY2013 and FY2014 EBITDAF 
is normalised by adding the $5.1 
million discount to EBITDAF of $25.6 
million, $32.5 million and $32.0 million 
respecti vely from the Statements 
of Comprehensive Income to allow 
comparability with prior year fi gures. 
FY2015 EBITDAF forecast has been 
normalised for a $5.1 million discount.

EBITDAF ($’000)
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30,000

20,000

10,000

0
FY 2009 FY 2010 FY 2011 FY 2012 FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2015

(forecast)
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Network	consumpti	on	has	reduced	by	1.8	per	cent	during	the	year,	from	the	eff	ects	of	a	warm	
winter	and	improvements	in	energy	effi		ciency.	While	consumpti	on	for	the	year	is	at	2008	levels,	
peak	demand	on	the	network	has	increased	14.5	per	cent.	over	the	next	12	months,	a	detailed	
review	of	the	network	pricing	methodology	will	look	at	how	current	network	tariff	s	are	aff	ecti	ng	
consumpti	on	and	 revenue	 recovery	with	a	new	 tariff		 structure	expected	 to	be	 implemented	
from april 2015.

Report on performance indicators contained within the Statement of Corporate Intent (SCI)

     Actual target actual
fINANCIAl PERfoRmANCE TARgETS foR:   31.03.2014 31.03.2014 31.03.2013

Electricity network business
(i)	 profi	t	before	fi	nance	and	tax	as	a	percentage	of	total	tangible	assets	 6.3%	 5.6%	 7.0%
(ii)	 Net	profi	t	aft	er	tax	as	a	percentage	of	average	shareholder’s	funds		 6.3%	 5.1%	 7.1%
(iii)	 return	on	investment	 	 	 6.9%	 6.2%	 7.6%

Other non‑network business
(iv)	 profi	t	before	fi	nance	and	tax	as	a	percentage	of	total	tangible	assets	 6.1%	 7.2%	 7.2%
(v)	 Net	profi	t	aft	er	tax	as	a	percentage	of	average	shareholder’s	funds		 4.2%	 7.4%	 7.0%

Group
(v)	 Net	profi	t	aft	er	tax	as	a	percentage	of	average	shareholder’s	funds		 5.8%	 5.7%	 7.1%
(vii)	 rati	o	of	shareholder’s	funds	to	total	assets		 	 1:2.50	 1:2.56	 1:2.54
(viii)	 return	on	investment	 	 	 6.0%	 5.9%	 6.7%

(i)‑(viii) The performance targets and actual results are before any unrealised gains or losses from derivati ves are taken into account and exclude 
the eff ect of any asset revaluati ons.

(iii) & (viii) Return on investment is defi ned as aft er tax Earnings before Interest, Discounts and Derivati ve fair value adjustments over total tangible assets.

     Actual target actual
NETWoRK QUAlITY STANdARdS   31.03.2014 31.03.2014 31.03.2013

Electricity network business
(i) System	Average	Interrupti	on	Durati	on	Index	(SAIDI).	The	average	durati	on	
	 of	high‑voltage	outages	(including	planned)	per	customer	(minutes)	 	 464.9	 340.0	 327.2
(ii)	 System	Average	Interrupti	on	frequency	Index	(SAIfI).	The	average	
	 number	of	outages	(including	planned)	per	year	for	any	customer	 	 5.5	 4.5	 4.7

Items i & ii are measured using the reporti ng requirements of the Commerce Commission.

oWNERSHIP  
The	Company	is	owned	by	The	Top	Energy	Consumer	Trust.	The	income	and	capital	benefi	ciaries	of	the	Trust	are	the	persons	
connected to the Company’s network.
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Capital Projects

Vegetati on Control 

top energy’s focus on network development, to increase both security of supply and capacity, 
has	conti	nued	during	the	past	year.

The	constructi	on	of	a	110kV	transmission	line	between	Kaikohe	and	Kaitaia	conti	nues	to	be	the	
focal point of our capital works programme. the project started at the Kaikohe end and stage 1 
(to state highway 1) is now complete. 

Constructi	on	has	begun	on	Stage	2	(to	the	newly‑commissioned	Wiroa	switching	stati	on)	and	is	
scheduled	for	completi	on	during	the	2014/15	summer	build	season.	Work	to	secure	property	
access	rights	for	Stage	3	(66	kilometres	to	Kaitaia)	is	conti	nuing,	and	constructi	on	of	secti	ons	of	
this	part	of	the	line	is	also	expected	to	commence	during	the	2014/15	build	season.	

Work	has	conti	nued	on	the	Kerikeri	33kV	ring,	with	the	fi	rst	phase	on	the	southern	side	of	the	
town	completed.	We	commissioned	a	new	33kV	substati	on	at	Cobham	road,	Kerikeri	and	this	is	
now	connected	to	the	new	switching	stati	on	at	Wiroa.

other	major	projects	include	commencing	a	rebuild	of	the	Kaikohe	substati	on	and	the	completi	on	
of	constructi	on	of	a	second,	dedicated	33kV	line	linking	the	Ngawha	geothermal	power	plant	to	
the top energy network.

our	planning	and	design	 team	had	a	very	successful	year.	 In	a	fi	rst	 for	Top	Energy,	 the	team	
designed,	specifi	ed	and	purchased	a	110kV	transformer	and	circuit	breaker,	as	the	fi	rst	major	step	
in the refurbishment and replacement of the transmission assets purchased from transpower in 
2012.	These	new	units	will	be	delivered	and	installed	in	November	2014.

The	management	of	trees	and	vegetati	on	encroaching	on	the	network	is	an	ongoing	problem	
and	we	conti	nue	to	dedicate	resources	to	a	conti	nuous	cycle	of	cutti		ng	back	growth	from	the	
limit zone near our power lines. 

Vegetati	on	control	eff	orts	have	been	concentrated	in	areas	most	aff	ected	by	tree	damage.	We	
successfully	cleared	all	criti	cal	vegetati	on	around	a	56‑kilometre	stretch	of	110kV	transmission	
line, a major task which was completed over several months.

The	benefi	ts	 to	consumers	are	 illustrated	by	the	vegetati	on	control	work	undertaken	around	
feeder	 lines	 in	and	around	russell.	During	two	recent	signifi	cant	storms	there	was	no	 loss	of	
supply to that area.

Our planning and 
design team had a 
very successful year

We successfully cleared 
all criti cal vegetati on 
around a 56‑kilometre 
stretch of 110kV 
transmission line
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Staff  Development

Pacifi c Contracts

our	staff		are	our	most	important	asset	and	where	possible	we	aim	to	support	our	community	
by	 recruiti	ng	 local	 people.	During	 the	 last	 year,	 four	 linesmen	graduated	with	 line	mechanic	
qualifi	cati	ons	and	are	now	registered	and	working	on	our	network.	In	additi	on,	we	took	on	six	
new trainees, including two school leavers, with two training as electrician/linesmen, two as 
linesmen, and two as high and low voltage cable jointers.

We	created	a	pacifi	c	Contracti	ng	group,	focused	on	upcoming	tenders	in	the	region,	and	this	has	
paid	dividends	for	us.	New	Zealand	and	Australian	government	agencies	have	committ	ed	to	a	$600	
million	aid	programme	to	install	solar	power	on	several	pacifi	c	islands;	especially	those	with	small	
populati	ons,	in	remote	locati	ons,	which	have	traditi	onally	relied	on	generators	using	fossil	fuels.

In	 a	 joint	 venture	 with	 powerSmart,	 a	 major	 New	 Zealand	 supplier	 of	 off	‑grid	 solar	 power	
systems,	we	will	be	working	on	a	$2	million	project	to	reti	culate	four	small,	remote	islands	lying	
more than a thousand kilometres from rarotonga. as part of a $23 million aid project, we are 
installing new high and low voltage cables, to support the photovoltaic cells being installed. 
This	work	will	 require	 four	Top	Energy	electricians	 to	 live	on	 the	 islands	unti	l	 the	contract	 is	
completed	 in	December	 2014.	A	 procurement	 contract	 has	 been	 secured	with	 the	 Solomon	
Islands	Electricity	Authority	and	we	are	targeti	ng	further	infrastructural	work	in	fiji,	Tonga	and	
samoa, as well as more work in rarotonga and the solomon islands.

We created a Pacifi c 
Contracti ng Group, 
focused on upcoming 
tenders in the region, 
and this has paid 
dividends for us

CoNTRACTINg
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Other External Contracts

Strategic Restructure

Transmission Network

Vegetati on Management

Metering

We	conti	nued	providing	maintenance	and	capital	project	capacity	for	Counti	es	power	in	Counti	es	
manukau	and	have	also	 carried	out	 contract	work	 in	 the	Waikato	area	 for	our	neighbouring	
lines	company,	Northpower.	This	involved	working	as	a	sub‑contractor	to	Northpower	as	that	
company upgraded transmission lines for transpower.

The	Contracti	ng	team	conti	nues	to	focus	on	effi		ciency	improvements	and	ensuring	that	we	are	
delivering the best service possible, to both external customers and the network division, as our 
largest customer. 

A	restructure	towards	the	end	of	the	fi	nancial	year	has	streamlined	our	business,	with	a	strong	
focus on ensuring that we have the right people in the right jobs. the Group procurement team, 
supporti	ng	the	Contracti	ng	division’s	requirements,	contributes	to	cost	reducti	ons	by	negoti	ati	ng	
and securing excellent service agreements and deals for the supply of metering equipment, fuel, 
traffi		c	management	and	sub‑contractor	digger	works.

We	built	50	new	110kV	pole	structures	between	Kaikohe	and	Wiroa	and	a	new	zone	substati	on	
at	Wiroa.	This	work	precedes	the	installati	on	of	transmission	lines	to	connect	the	new	substati	on	
to the network.

Trees	and	vegetati	on	encroaching	on	power	lines	are	a	major	and	ongoing	issue	for	any	lines	
company.	In	the	far	North	this	 is	also	a	signifi	cant	issue	and	results	 in	outages	for	customers	
during	 storms	 and	 high	winds;	when	 Cyclone	 Lusi	 struck	 in	march	 2014	major	 damage	was	
caused throughout the area.

During	the	last	year	we	carried	out	a	programme	of	planned	vegetati	on	control	on	our	network,	
exceeding	our	targeted	number	of	tree	removals	while	remaining	under	budget.	our	eff	orts	were	
concentrated	on	the	feeders	that	traditi	onally	create	the	most	outages,	between	Kawakawa	and	
russell,	reducing	the	number	and	durati	on	of	outages	for	customers.

our	 state‑of‑the‑art	 shelter	 belt	 trimmer	was	 used	 extensively	 on	 contract	work	 for	 private	
landowners. it also came into its own on planned shelter belt clearance programmes between 
Kerikeri and Kaitaia.

We	have	developed	strong	relati	onships	with	meter	reading	service	providers	in	the	far	North	
and	 have	 a	 number	 of	 contracts	 in	 place	which	 include	 customer‑focused	 key	 performance	
indicators.	our	processes	have	been	refi	ned	to	ensure	the	highest	level	of	customer	service.

A restructure 
towards the end of 
the fi nancial year 
has streamlined our 
business

When Cyclone Lusi 
struck in March 2014 
major damage was 
caused throughout 
the area
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Visitor Centre

Ngawha Expansion

Operati onal Performance

World Geothermal Congress

our	visitor	centre	and	site	tours	conti	nued	to	be	very	popular.	We	hosted	groups	from	Auckland	
university,	 several	 local	 schools,	 many	 geoscienti	sts	 from	 around	 New	 Zealand	 and	 from	
overseas,	and	other	industry	parti	es.	The	local	community	took	advantage	of	bus	tours	provided	
in	conjuncti	on	with	the	Kaikohe	A	&	p	Show,	with	up	to	400	people	visiti	ng	the	site.

We	are	intending	to	expand	the	geothermal	electricity	generati	on	capacity	at	the	Ngawha	power	
stati	on	through	the	constructi	on	of	two	additi	onal	25mW	power	stati	ons.	This	project	is	in	its	
early	stages	of	planning	and	we	are	consulti	ng	with	key	stakeholders,	including	those	likely	to	be	
directly	aff	ected	by	the	project.

once	 stakeholder	 consultati	on	 and	 environmental	 assessments	 have	 been	 completed,	
applicati	on	will	be	made	to	the	Northland	regional	Council	and	far	North	District	Council	for	
the	consents	required	for	constructi	on	of	the	proposed	power	stati	ons.	We	plan	to	do	this	by	
the	end	of	2014	and	anti	cipate	that	the	fi	rst	power	stati	on	will	be	commissioned	in	2023.	This	
will	coordinate	with	the	forecast	increase	in	nati	onal	electricity	demand.

An	esti	mated	 investment	of	around	$250	million	 is	needed	 to	build	 the	 two	power	 stati	ons,	
which	will	be	initi	ally	funded	by	Top	Energy	and	then	later	by	bringing	in	other	investors.

The	constructi	on	of	two	new	geothermal	power	stati	ons	at	the	existi	ng	Ngawha	site	will	produce	
electricity,	 as	 well	 as	 a	 heat	 resource,	 which	 could	 be	 uti	lised	 in	 complementary	 business	
development	opportuniti	es	such	as	wood	processing,	dairy	milk	processing,	horti	culture	and	
aquaculture.	It	is	expected	that	these	types	of	businesses	could	create	a	signifi	cant	number	of	
new jobs in the Kaikohe area. 

the ngawha geothermal plant again achieved zero lost time injuries (ltis), enabling us to 
recently	 reach	 the	milestone	fi	gure	of	 2000	days	with	no	 LTIs.	We	conti	nue	 to	maintain	our	
public	Safety	management	System	and,	during	the	last	year,	the	Ngawha	plant	became	the	fi	rst	
part	of	Top	Energy’s	business	to	achieve	ISo	9001	accreditati	on.

Plant availability for the year was good and exceeded our target, despite the planned shutdown 
in november 2013. the shutdown involved the largest package of work undertaken since 
the	constructi	on	of	the	second	generati	on	stati	on	 in	2008.	This	work	saw	a	 large	number	of	
specialist	geothermal	contractors,	some	from	overseas,	converging	on	the	site	at	the	same	ti	me	
and	was	completed	on	ti	me	and	to	budget.

our	conti	ngency	plans	were	tested	and	found	to	be	robust	when	the	release	of	a	safety	valve	
occurred.	We	worked	closely	with	emergency	services	to	ensure	a	safe	and	positi	ve	outcome	
from	 this	 event.	 We	 gained	 parti	cular	 recogniti	on	 for	 our	 response	 from	 the	 Civil	 Defence	
Emergency	management	groups.

The	World	geothermal	Congress	is	a	presti	gious	conference	held	every	fi	ve	years	and	att	ended	
by	 people	working	 in	 the	 geothermal	 industry	 from	 all	 over	 the	 globe.	 Scienti	sts	 from	New	
Zealand’s	geothermal	community,	working	with	Ngawha	generati	on	Limited,	have	submitt	ed	
a paper to the next congress, detailing the advances we have made in the control of heat 
exchanger	fouling	when	sti	bnite	is	present.

We anti cipate that 
the fi rst power 
stati on could be 
commissioned in 2023

The Ngawha 
geothermal plant 
again achieved zero 
Lost Time Injuries 
(LTIs), enabling us to 
reach the milestone 
fi gure of 2000 days 
with no LTIs
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Property Purchases

Testi ng for Geothermal Fluid

Top	Energy	owns	a	number	of	properti	es	east	of	Kaikohe.	The	bulk	of	the	land	lies	between	State	
highway	12	and	remuera	Sett	lement	road	and	is	operati	ng	as	a	dairy	farm.	recently	a	number	
of smaller blocks have been purchased on the south side of the state highway. this land is 
intended	to	provide	for	the	drilling	of	wells	and	the	constructi	on	of	geothermal	fl	uid	pipelines	to	
feed	the	new	power	stati	ons	to	be	operated	by	Ngawha	generati	on.	

The	farm	runs	a	herd	of	about	350	animals	and	during	the	milking	session	to	31	may	2014	has	
produced	almost	94,000	kg	of	milk	solids.	The	previous	owner	produced	66,000	kg	during	the	
2012/13 session.

A	 number	 of	 the	 properti	es	 have	 houses	 on	 them,	which	 are	 not	 associated	with	 the	 farm	
management	and	are	treated	as	residenti	al	tenancies.	These	houses	are	required	to	be	revalued	
each year.

We	intend	to	hold	the	farm	land	unti	l	we	are	able	to	drill	test	wells	to	confi	rm	the	existence	of	a	
viable	geothermal	fl	uid	source.	

It	is	expected	that	any	development	involving	wells,	pipelines	and	possible	power	stati	on	will	
only	occupy	a	small	part	of	the	total	area	held,	and	therefore	it	should	be	possible	to	conti	nue	
to	operate	an	income‑generati	ng	acti	vity	on	the	surface.	

Should	the	well‑drilling	programme	establish	that	the	area	is	not	suitable	for	power	generati	on,	
top energy would then expect to sell the land as a producing dairy farm. its value will be best 
maintained by maximising the performance of the farm.

from	1	June	2014	the	dairy	farm	will	be	operated	under	a	50/50	sharemilking	agreement,	with	
the	expectati	on	of	further	increasing	producti	on	to	more	than	130,000	kg	milk	solids.

We intend to hold 
the farm land unti l we 
are able to drill test 
wells to confi rm the 
existence of a viable 
geothermal fl uid 
source
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Phone Plus

phone	plus	is	a	wholly‑owned	subsidiary	of	Top	Energy	and	provides	a	24‑hour	contact	centre	
service from our base in Kaikohe, backed up by our team at albany on the north shore.

We have a strong focus on training and development and have introduced individualised training 
plans to ensure that all team members provide the highest level of customer service. 

We consistently aim for excellence, providing a quality service to our clients and enabling 
strategic growth within our business.

Phone Plus provides 
a 24‑hour contact 
centre service from 
our base in Kaikohe

PHoNE PlUS

20



Sheryl	Johnston	has	been	with	phone	plus	since	the	company	was	formed	in	August	2000.	prior	
to that, sheryl worked for top energy and, later this year, will complete 20 years of service in the 
top energy Group. 

using her experience, sheryl can manage a diverse range of client requirements, including 
outbound	campaigns	 for	Christchurch	radiology	group	and	Nati	onal	heart	foundati	on,	both	
highly successful projects for Phone Plus. 

She	has	 achieved	 the	NZQA	 Level	 3	 qualifi	cati	on	 in	 Contact	 Centre	operati	ons	 and	 is	 also	 a	
qualifi	ed	NZQA	Assessor	for	Level	3	parti	cipants.

Cheyne davis commenced her employment with Phone Plus in august of 2011. Cheyne is 22 
years	old,	with	 two	young	children.	She	 is	parti	cipati	ng	 in	phone	plus’	 Learning	planet	study	
framework	‑	which	was	introduced	in	2013	‑	providing	her	with	an	opportunity	to	increase	her	
skills	and	capabiliti	es.	

There	 are	 more	 than	 50	 modules	 in	 this	 training	 programme	 including	 Questi	oning	 Skills,	
Creati	ng	 positi	ve	 first	 Impressions,	 Diffi		cult	 Customer	 Types,	 Listening	 Skills,	 managing	
Customers’	Needs,	handling	Confl	ict	and	Learning	and	Delivery	Styles.	Cheyne	has	completed	
seven of these modules in the past eight months.

She	has	been	mentored	by	the	Kaikohe	Team	Leader,	Lauren	Wilkinson‑pou,	to	be	able	to	fi	ll	the	
Subject	matt	er	Expert	(SmE)	role	needed	to	maintain	our	services	for	pulse	Energy,	a	key	phone	
plus	client.	As	an	SmE,	Cheyne	has	responsibility	for	working	side	by	side	with	pulse	to	stay	well	
informed of any service updates or impacts. 

during 2013, this involved Cheyne spending three weeks in our albany contact centre upskilling 
20	phone	plus	agents	on	the	various	products	and	services	off	ered	by	pulse	Energy.

We	have	been	working	for	the	ministry	of	Social	Development’s	Supergold	Card	programme	
over	the	last	two	years	and	have	successfully	completed	four	contracts	for	the	organisati	on,	two	
of them in the last year.

Work has been focused on enrolling new providers and services into the programme, which 
off	ers	discounts	for	New	Zealand	Seniors.	We	have	targeted	services	in	rural	areas	and	the	health	
and	wellbeing	sector,	as	well	as	businesses	in	the	automoti	ve,	grocery,	retail	and	trade	sectors.

our	work	led	to	the	number	of	parti	cipati	ng	businesses	rising	to	more	than	11,000.	Lindsay	
meehan,	 general	 manager,	 Senior	 Services,	 said:	 “The	 recruitment	 campaigns	 that	 have	
been	undertaken	over	the	 last	two	years	have	had	a	dramati	c	eff	ect	on	the	growth	of	new	
businesses for the superGold programme. this has increased the value of the programme, 
especially for those cardholders outside of the main city centres, who may not have access to 
free	off	‑peak	transport.”	

Sheryl will have 
completed 20 years 
of service in the Top 
Energy Group

Our work led to the 
number of parti cipati ng 
businesses rising to 
more than 11,000

Staff  Profi le: Sheryl	Johnston

Staff  Profi le: Cheyne Davis

Case Study: ministry	of	Social	Development	Supergold	Card
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Our

PEoPlE

Orange Umbrella

Workplace	safety	is	criti	cal	to	our	business	and	we	are	constantly	 looking	for	ways	to	involve	
staff		in	the	development	of	an	outstanding	safety	culture.

in the last year we introduced the orange umbrella programme, a workplace safety 
programme	with	a	strong	emphasis	on	risk	management.	All	fi	eld	staff		took	part	in	surveys	and	
independently‑facilitated	workshops,	producing	acti	on	plans	for	conti	nual	improvement	in	our	
safety	processes.	Internal	safety	champions	were	identi	fi	ed	as	well	as	process	leaders,	key	fi	eld	
staff		who	are	criti	cal	to	the	project.

the orange umbrella programme demonstrates our strong management commitment to safety. 
We	have	completed	the	fi	rst	round	of	surveys	and	workshops	and	will	enter	a	second	round	in	
the	next	fi	nancial	year.

The Orange 
Umbrella programme 
demonstrates our 
strong management 
commitment to safety
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Staff  Development

Long Service Awards

Staff  Reward and Recogniti on

Top Energy Management Systems

At	Top	Energy	we	have	a	 focus	on	upskilling	our	 staff		 and	assisti	ng	with	 their	 professional	
development.	In	the	last	year,	14	staff		completed	a	range	of	industry	qualifi	cati	ons,	including	
Level	3‑4	Nati	onal	Certi	fi	cate	in	Electrical	Supply	(Line	mechanic),	Level	3‑4	Nati	onal	Certi	fi	cate	
in	Electricity	Supply	(operator)	and	Level	3‑4	Nati	onal	Certi	fi	cate	in	Arboriculture.	

parti	cipants	included	trainees	who	are	new	to	the	industry,	as	well	as	experienced	staff		seeking	
to	develop	their	skills	and	pursue	other	opportuniti	es	across	the	company.	Some	staff		undertook	
and	completed	multi	ple	qualifi	cati	ons.

We	conti	nued	our	internal	leadership	programme	which	is	now	into	its	second	year,	developing	
the leadership capability of our supervisors and managers. 

We	 also	 conti	nued	 our	 involvement	 with	 the	 rotary	 youth	 Leadership	 Awards,	 the	 second	
successive year that a top energy employee has been selected to represent the Far north. 

Alongside	these	programmes	we	also	provide	a	mentoring	programme,	with	senior	staff		assisti	ng	
with career development through guidance, support and encouragement.

In	the	last	year	two	staff		were	rewarded	for	their	long	service.	Both	gordon	ramsay	and	richard	
hodge	reached	the	milestone	of	completi	ng	25	years’	service	to	the	company.

We	launched	a	programme	to	recognise	and	reward	staff		demonstrati	ng	excepti	onal	performance	
and	dedicati	on.	

The	 Applaud	 programme	 provides	 positi	ve	 reinforcement	 for	 those	 staff		 whose	 workplace	
behaviours	align	strongly	with	our	organisati	onal	values,	who	successfully	complete	challenging	
tasks,	or	who	achieve	signifi	cant	results	through	excepti	onal	performance.

our	 objecti	ve	 is	 to	 achieve	 ISo	 9001	 accreditati	on	 and	 we	 have	 begun	 our	 journey	 with	
a	 comprehensive	 value	 stream	 mapping	 (VSm)	 project	 to	 bring	 together	 all	 our	 policies	
and procedures. 

This	has	resulted	in	a	clear	set	of	procedures	for	all	staff		to	follow	and	gives	our	customers	trust	
and	confi	dence	in	our	ability	to	provide	safe	and	effi		cient	services.

All	 documentati	on	 has	 been	 completed	 and	 we	 are	 now	 working	 to	 implement	 necessary	
changes	identi	fi	ed	through	the	process.	

This	will	be	followed	by	an	extensive	auditi	ng	scheme,	which	will	put	us	in	good	stead	to	achieve	
ISo	9001	certi	fi	cati	on	in	the	coming	year.

We have a focus on 
upskilling our staff  
and assisti ng with 
their professional 
development

This will put us in 
good stead to achieve 
ISO 9001 certi fi cati on 
in the coming year
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Our

CommUNITY

Lindvart Park Floodlights

Top	Energy	partnered	with	the	far	North	District	Council	to	install	fl	oodlights	worth	$200,000	at	
Lindvart	park,	the	main	sporti	ng	hub	for	Kaikohe.	

With	the	council	contributi	ng	half	of	the	total	needed,	we	approached	our	local	suppliers	and	
contractors	who	donated	materials	and	experti	se	and	then	we	met	the	balance	of	the	cost.	

We	provided	the	equipment	and	our	staff		volunteered	their	ti	me,	aft	er	hours	and	on	weekends,	
to	carry	out	the	constructi	on	work.

Top Energy partnered 
with the Far North 
District Council to 
install fl oodlights at 
Lindvart Park

24



Science Fair

A & P Shows

Northland Electricity Rescue Helicopter

Young Enterprise Scheme (YES)

We	conti	nued	our	sponsorship	of	 the	far	North	Science	and	Technology	fair,	which	we	have	
supported	every	year	since	2002.	This	year	 there	were	more	than	140	entries,	 involving	200	
students	representi	ng	nine	far	North	schools.	

Category winners were presented with cash prizes sponsored by top energy, with the Best in 
Show	award	going	to	Kerikeri	high	School	student	melanie	Jones	for	her	study	into	the	control	
of invasive kikuyu grass on coastal dunes.

Every	year	we	support	our	community	by	taking	part	in	A	&	p	Shows	around	the	far	North.	This	
year we won the Best trade exhibit award at the Kaitaia show.

This	year	saw	the	twenty‑fi	ft	h	anniversary	of	 the	Northland	Emergency	Services	Trust,	which	
operates	the	region’s	vital,	life‑saving	helicopter	rescue	service.	

To	date	the	service,	which	is	funded	through	sponsorship	and	public	donati	ons,	has	carried	more	
than	15,000	pati	ents.

We	are	proud	to	conti	nue	our	sponsorship	of	the	service	and	its	three	helicopters,	which	we	
have	maintained	for	almost	all	of	the	25	years	that	the	rescue	service	has	been	operati	ng.	In	
conjuncti	on	with	Northpower,	we	match	public	donati	ons	dollar	for	dollar,	up	to	$150,000,	to	
keep	the	service	fl	ying	high	for	Northlanders.

Since	2009	we	have	partnered	with	the	Lion	foundati	on	to	sponsor	the	Northland	yES	scheme,	
which sees school students set up and run their own businesses. 

In	the	last	year	we	boosted	our	funding	of	this	important	initi	ati	ve,	to	support	more	budding	
entrepreneurs.

Three	Northland	teams	represented	the	region	at	 the	nati	onal	fi	nals	 in	Wellington,	 including	
Northland	winner	Nick	 fewtrell,	 from	 Kerikeri	 high	 School,	whose	 fi	rm	 Innoluminate	makes	
glow‑in‑the‑dark	sti	ckers	for	light	switches.	

fellow	Kerikeri	high	students	Sophie	Sutherland	and	rachel	Draper	won	the	nati	onal	award	for	
Excellence	in	Enterprising	music	with	their	company,	Disti	ncti	v	records.

WaterSafe

Children	 in	 the	North	have	benefi	ted	 from	 free	 swimming	 lessons	 since	1998,	 thanks	 to	our	
ongoing sponsorship of the Watersafe scheme. 

A	 total	 of	 57	 primary	 schools	 in	 the	 area	 have	 signed	 up,	with	 11	 Sport	 Northland	 trainers	
delivering 21,500 swimmer lessons to children, and 1,500 training modules for poolside 
teachers, in the last year.

Far North children have 
enjoyed free swimming 
lessons since 1998

We are proud 
to conti nue our 
sponsorship of the 
service

We boosted our 
funding to support 
more budding 
entrepreneurs
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Top Energy Group

fINANCIAlS
Financial report for the year ended 31 March 2014

Directors’ Statement
the directors present the annual report of top energy limited 
and	the	Top	Energy	Limited	group,	incorporati	ng	the	fi	nancial	
statements and the auditor’s report, for the year ended 31 
march	2014.

With the agreement of the shareholder, the Company has 
taken	advantage	of	 the	 reporti	ng	 concessions	 available	 to	 it	
under	secti	on	211(3)	of	the	Companies	Act	1993.

the Board of directors of the Company authorised the 
fi	nancial	 statements	presented	on	pages	27	 to	76	 for	 issue	
on	17	June	2014.	

For and on behalf of the Board.

P Byrnes     G Steed
Director     Director

17	June	2014

P Byrnes     G Steed
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Statements of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March 2014

   Consolidated  Parent

   2014 2013 2014 2013
  Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

operati	ng	revenue		 5	 61,248	 59,226	 44,290	 46,390	

operati	ng	expenses		 6	 (29,257)	 (26,728)	 (23,269)	 (20,887)	

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciati on,   
 amorti sati on and fair value movements 
 of fi nancial assets (EBITDAF)  31,991 32,498 21,021 25,503 

Depreciati	on	and	amorti	sati	on		 6	 (14,864)	 (13,647)	 (8,827)	 (8,369)	
Finance costs 7 (8,586) (8,101) (8,580) (8,081) 
Earnings before tax and fair value 
 movements of fi nancial assets (EBTF)  8,541 10,750 3,614 9,053 

fair	value	gains	(losses)	on	fi	nancial	assets	 8	 6,642	 (943)	 6,614	 (943)	
Profi t before income tax  15,183 9,807 10,228 8,110 

income tax expense 9	 (4,121)	 (3,429)	 (2,750)	 (1,877)	
Profi t from conti nuing operati ons  11,062 6,378 7,478 6,233 

(Loss)	from	disconti	nued	operati	on	 10 – (101) – (101) 
Profi t for the year  11,062 6,277 7,478 6,132 

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassifi ed to profi t or loss:
gain	on	revaluati	on	of	non‑current	assets	 	 78,015	 –	 –	 –	
Income	tax	relati	ng	to	revaluati	on	of	
	 non‑current	assets	 	 (21,844)	 –	 –	 –	
   56,171 – – – 
Items that may be reclassifi ed subsequently to 
 profi t or loss:
Changes in fair value of available for sale 
	 fi	nancial	assets	 	 (114)	 –	 –	 –	
	 	 	 (114)	 –	 –	 –	

other	comprehensive	income	for	the	year,	net	of	tax	 	 56,057	 –	 –	 –	
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  67,119 6,277 7,478 6,132 

Profi t is att ributable to:
Equity	holders	of	Top	Energy	Limited	 	 11,051	 6,276	
Non‑controlling	interest	 	 11	 1	
   11,062 6,277 
Total comprehensive income for the year is 
 att ributable to:
Equity	holders	of	Top	Energy	Limited		 	 67,108	 6,276	
Non‑controlling	interest	 	 11	 1	
   67,119 6,277

The above statements of comprehensive income should be read in conjuncti on with the accompanying notes.
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Statements of financial position
As at 31 March 2014

			   Consolidated		  Parent

			   2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  Notes	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

ASSETS					   
Current assets					   
Cash and cash equivalents	 11	 5	 62	 1	 1	
Trade and other receivables	 12	 7,622	 7,411	 15,657	 13,153	
Inventories	 13	 983	 1,007	 983	 1,007	
Current tax benefit	 14	 44	 1,785	 –	 1,688	
Intangible assets	 15	 461	 451	 –	 –	
Total current assets		  9,115	 10,716	 16,641	 15,849	

Non‑current assets
Property, plant and equipment	 16	 341,168	 252,797	 185,227	 176,441	
Investment properties	 17	 665	 –	 –	 –	
Intangible assets	 18	 4,000	 3,911	 3,130	 3,173	
Biological assets	 19	 938	 457	 457	 457	
Available‑for‑sale financial assets	 20	 399	 –	 –	 –	
Derivative financial instruments	 21	 505	 –	 505	 –	
Trade and other receivables	 22	 –	 –	 41,695	 44,100	
Deferred tax assets	 23	 36	 37	 –	 –	
Investments in subsidiaries	 42	 –	 –	 9,701	 9,400	
Total non‑current assets		  347,711	 257,202	 240,715	 233,571	

Total assets	 	 356,826	 267,918	 257,356	 249,420	

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables	 24	 6,643	 8,103	 5,832	 7,129	
Interest bearing liabilities	 25	 1,714	 1,581	 1,699	 1,576	
Non‑interest bearing liabilities	 26	 –	 –	 251	 203	
Current tax liabilities	 27	 682	 446	 391	 –	
Derivative financial instruments	 21	 1,972	 1,827	 1,972	 1,827	
Provisions	 28	 315	 421	 315	 421	
Total current liabilities		  11,326	 12,378	 10,460	 11,156	

Non‑current liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities	 29	 133,435	 127,750	 133,435	 127,750	
Derivative financial instruments	 21	 1,933	 8,187	 1,933	 8,187	
Provisions	 30	 127	 129	 127	 129	
Deferred tax liabilities	 31	 46,043	 22,373	 17,504	 15,794	
Total non‑current liabilities		  181,538	 158,439	 152,999	 151,860	

Total liabilities	 	 192,864	 170,817	 163,459	 163,016	

NET ASSETS	 	 163,962	 97,101	 93,897	 86,404	

EQUITY
Contributed equity	 33	 25,267	 25,267	 25,267	 25,267	
Reserves	 34	 56,057	 –	 –	 –	
Retained earnings	 34	 82,638	 71,672	 68,630	 61,137	
Equity attributable to the equity holders of  
	 Top Energy Ltd	 	 163,962	 96,939	 93,897	 86,404	
Non‑controlling interest	 35	 –	 162	 –	 –	

Total equity		  163,962	 97,101	 93,897	 86,404

The above statements of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statements of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 March 2014

	A ttributable to equity holders
	 of the Top Energy Limited Group

						      Non- 
			   Share	 	 Retained	 controlling	 Total 
			   capital	 Reserves	 earnings	 interest	 equity		
Consolidated	 Notes	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Balance at 1 April 2012		  25,267	 –	 65,471	 161	 90,899	

Comprehensive income					   
Profit for the year	 	 –	 –	 6,276	 –	 6,276	
Total comprehensive income		  –	 –	 6,276	 –	 6,276

Transactions with owners
Dividends	 36	 –	 –	 (75)	 –	 (75)	
Total contributions by and distributions to owners	 	 –	 –	 (75)	 –	 (75)
Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries  
	 that do not result in a loss of control
Result attributable to minorities	 35	 –	 –	 –	 1	 1	
Total transactions with owners		  –	 –	 (75)	 1	 (74)	

Balance as at 31 March 2013		  25,267	 –	 71,672	 162	 97,101	

Balance as at 1 April 2013		  25,267	 –	 71,672	 162	 97,101	

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year	 	 –	 –	 11,051	 –	 11,051	
Gain on the revaluation of generation plant, net of tax	 34	 –	 56,171	 –	 –	 56,171	
Fair value gain / (loss) on available‑for‑sale financial assets	 20	 –	 (114)	 –	 –	 (114)	
Total comprehensive income		  –	 56,057	 11,051	 –	 67,108	

Transactions with owners
Dividends	 36	 –	 –	 (85)	 –	 (85)	
Total contributions by and distributions to owners	 	 –	 –	 (85)	 –	 (85)	
Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries that  
	 do not result in a loss of control
Result attributable to non‑controlling interest	 35	 –	 –	 –	 11	 11
Purchase of non‑controlling interest	 35	 –	 –	 –	 (173)	 (173)	
Total transactions with owners		  –	 –	 (85)	 (162)	 (247)	

Balance as at 31 March 2014		  25,267	 56,057	 82,638	 –	 163,962	

			   Share	 Retained	 Total 
			   capital	 earnings	 equity		   
PARENT		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Balance as at 1 April 2012		  25,267	 55,080	 80,347	

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year	 	 –	 6,132	 6,132	
Total comprehensive income		  –	 6,132	 6,132	

Transactions with owners
Dividends	 36	 –	 (75)	 (75)	
Total transactions with owners		  –	 (75)	 (75)	

Balance as at 31 March 2013		  25,267	 61,137	 86,404	

Balance as at 1 April 2013		  25,267	 61,137	 86,404	

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year	 	 –	 7,478	 7,478	
Total comprehensive income		  –	 7,478	 7,478	

Transactions with owners
Equity adjustment on acquisition of subsidiary	 	 –	 100	 100	
Dividends	 36	 –	 (85)	 (85)	
Total transactions with owners		  –	 15	 15	

Balance as at 31 March 2014		  25,267	 68,630	 93,897

The above statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash flow statements
For the year ended 31 March 2014

			   Consolidated		  Parent

			   2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  Notes	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities					   
Receipts from customers 
	 (exclusive of goods and services tax)	 	 61,238	 59,038	 40,631	 39,647	
Payments to suppliers and employees  
	 (exclusive of goods and services tax)	 	 (31,164)	 (26,462)	 (24,767)	 (21,179)	
			   30,074	 32,576	 15,864	 18,468	

Dividends received		  –	 –	 –	 2,500	
Interest received	 	 2	 109	 3,790	 4,544	
Interest paid	 	 (8,576)	 (8,000)	 (8,570)	 (7,980)	
Income taxes received (paid)	 	 (318)	 (1,060)	 1,040	 –	
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from operating  
	 activities	 44	 21,182	 23,625	 12,124	 17,532	

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment	 	 (25,386)	 (34,679)	 (19,441)	 (33,394)	
Proceeds from sale of property, plant  
	 and equipment	 	 171	 254	 1,965	 220	
Purchases of biological assets	 	 (434)	 –	 –	 –	
Purchases of investment properties	 	 (637)	 –	 –	 –	
Purchase of available‑for‑sale financial assets 	 	 (513)	 –	 –	 –	
Purchases of non‑controlling interest	 	 (173)	 –	 –	 –	
Investments in subsidiaries		  –	 –	 (201)	 –	
Increase / (repayment) of loan from parent		  30	 (22)	 30	 (22)	
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from investing  
	 activities		  (26,942)	 (34,447)	 (17,647)	 (33,196)	

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings	 	 5,685	 10,940	 5,685	 10,940	
Repayment of inter‑company loans by  
	 subsidiaries	 	 –	 –	 (170)	 4,811	
Dividends paid to the Group’s shareholders	 36	 (85)	 (75)	 (85)	 (75)	
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from financing  
	 activities		  5,600	 10,865	 5,430	 15,676	

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash  
	 equivalents	 	 (160)	 43	 (93)	 12	
Cash at bank and on hand at the beginning  
	 of the financial year	 	 9	 (34)	 (47)	 (59)	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	 11,25	 (151)	 9	 (140)	 (47)

The above cash flow statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1  :  General information

2  :  Summary of significant accounting policies

Top Energy Limited (the Company) provides electricity line 
function and electricity construction services in New Zealand.  

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the Group) are 
engaged in the operation of a geothermal power station in 
New Zealand and in the provision of other goods and services 
to customers both in New Zealand and overseas.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and 
domiciled in New Zealand.  Its registered office is at Level 2, 
John Butler Centre, 60 Kerikeri Road, Kerikeri.  The Company 
is not listed on any stock exchange.

These financial statements were approved for issue by the 
Board of Directors on 17 June 2014.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of the financial statements are set out below.  These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, 
unless otherwise stated.  

(a) Basis of preparation
Statutory base
Top Energy Limited is registered under the Companies Act 
1993. These financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Financial Reporting 
Act 1993, the Companies Act 1993 and the Energy Companies 
Act 1992.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with New Zealand G enerally Accepted Accounting P ractice 
(NZ GAAP).  They comply with New Zealand equivalents to 
International F inancial R eporting Standards (NZ IFRS), and 
other applicable New Zealand Financial Reporting Standards, 
as appropriate for profit‑oriented entities.   The financial 
statements comply with International F inancial R eporting 
Standards.

Entities reporting
The financial statements for the ‘Parent’ are for Top Energy 
Limited Group as a separate legal entity.

The consolidated financial statements for the ‘Group’ are for 
the economic entity comprising Top Energy Limited and all its 
subsidiary companies.

The Parent and the Group are designated as profit‑oriented 
entities for financial reporting purposes.

Historic cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the 
historic cost convention, as modified by the following:
–	 the revaluation of financial assets and liabilities (including 

derivative instruments) and investment properties, which 
are adjusted to fair value through profit or loss; and

–	 the revaluation of certain classes of property, plant and 
equipment and available‑for‑sale financial assets, which are 
adjusted to fair value through other comprehensive income.

Comparative figures
To ensure consistency with the current period, comparative 
figures have been restated where appropriate.   There have 
been no material restatements in these financial statements 
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2013.

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each G roup 
company’s operations are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which it operates 
(‘the functional currency’).   These financial statements are 
presented in New Zealand dollars, which is the parent entity’s 
functional and presentation currency.

All financial information has been rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

(b) Principles of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets 
and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Top Energy Limited (the 
‘Company’ or ‘parent entity’) as at 31 March 2014 and the 
results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended.  Top Energy 
Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these 
financial statements as the Group or the consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control.  
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, 
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity.  

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred to the Company.  They are de‑consolidated 
from the date when control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for 
the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.  The cost of an 
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, 
equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed 
at the date of exchange.   Costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition are expensed.  

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective 
of the extent of any minority interest.  The excess of the cost 
of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the 
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.  If the 
cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets 
of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly 
in profit or loss.

Annual Report 2013 / 2014 31



Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains 
and losses on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated on consolidation.   The accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the parent entity.

Minority interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are 
shown separately in the Group’s consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income and statement of financial position.  

(ii) Amalgamations
An amalgamation is an acquisition of an entity that is already 
under common control.  Where entities are amalgamated, the 
carrying values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
are measured at their book values and combined in the books 
of the acquiring company at the acquisition date.

(c) Available for sale investments
Available‑for‑sale investments, comprising principally 
marketable equity securities, are initially recognised at 
fair value plus transaction costs.   After initial recognition, 
available‑for‑sale investments are carried at fair value.

For investments traded in active markets, fair value is 
determined by reference to Stock Exchange quoted bid prices.  
For other investments, fair value is estimated by reference to 
the current market value of similar instruments or by reference 
to the discounted cash flows of the underlying net assets.

Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
are recognised through other comprehensive income.  When 
securities classified as available‑for‑sale are sold or impaired, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is 
recognised in the profit or loss component of the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Available‑for‑sale investments are classified as non-current 
assets, unless they are expected to be realised within 12 
months of the balance date or unless they will need to be sold 
to raise operating capital.

(d) Biological assets
(i) Dairy herd and trees
The Group’s biological assets comprise a herd of dairy cows 
and quantities of trees.  Both groups of assets are carried in the 
statement of financial position at fair value less costs to sell.  
Changes in the fair value of biological assets are recognised in 
profit or loss.  

Valuations of the G roup’s biological assets are obtained 
at balance date from suitably qualified, independent 
professional valuers.

(e) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying 
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required 
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.  

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they are incurred.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits 
held at call with financial institutions, other short‑term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 
less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, 
and bank overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are included within the 
total of interest-bearing liabilities, in current liabilities, in the 
statement of financial position.

(g) Contract work in progress
Contract work in progress is stated at the aggregate of contract 
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised 
losses and progress billings.  Cost includes all expenses directly 
related to specific contracts and an allocation of general 
overhead expenses incurred by the relevant Group company’s 
contracting operations.

Contract costs include all costs directly related to specific 
contracts, costs that are specifically chargeable to the 
customer under the terms of the contract, and an allocation of 
overhead expenses incurred in connection with the relevant 
Group company’s construction activities in general.

(h) Derivatives
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
re‑measured to their fair value.  The resulting gain or loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, as the derivative 
instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting.

(i) Dividend distributions
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared on 
or before the end of the financial year but not distributed at 
balance date.

Dividend distributions to the Parent Company’s shareholders 
are recognised as a liability in the Company’s and the Group’s 
financial statements in the accounting period in which the 
dividends are declared by the Directors.

(j) Employee benefits
(i) Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non‑monetary 
benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 
months of the reporting date, are recognised in other payables 
in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date and 
are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled.  The Group’s liabilities for sick leave are 
non‑accumulating and are recognised when the leave is taken 
and measured at the rates paid or payable.

(ii) Long service leave
The liability for retirement gratuity payments due to eligible 
long‑serving employees is recognised in the provision for 
employee benefits and measured as the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date.  Consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience 
of employee departures and periods of service.  Expected 
future payments are discounted to present value using the 
rate on New Zealand government bonds.
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(iii) Retirement benefit obligations
The G roup makes contributions to defined contribution 
pension schemes on behalf of some employees.  The Group’s 
legal or constructive obligation is limited to these contributions.  
Contributions are recognised as an expense when employees 
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

(k) Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities 
must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active 
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading 
and available‑for‑sale securities) is based on quoted market 
prices at the balance date.  The quoted market price used for 
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price; the 
appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities is the 
current ask price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in 
an active market (for example, over‑the‑counter derivatives) 
is determined using valuation techniques.  The Group uses a 
variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based 
on market conditions existing at each balance date.  Quoted 
market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used 
for long‑term debt instruments held.  Other techniques, such 
as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine 
fair value for the remaining financial instruments.   The fair 
value of interest‑rate swaps is calculated as the present value 
of the estimated future cash flows.  The fair value of forward 
exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange 
market rates at the balance date.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade 
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate to their 
fair values.  The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure 
purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual 
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available 
to the Group for similar financial instruments.

(l) Foreign currency translation
(i) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation 
at year‑end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the profit 
or loss component of the statement of comprehensive income. 

(m) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
The profit or loss component of the statement of comprehensive 
income has been prepared so that all components are stated 
exclusive of GST.  All items in the statement of financial position 
are stated net of GST, with the exception of receivables and 
payables, which include GST invoiced.

(n) Impairment of non‑financial assets
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable.  Intangible assets that have an 
indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are 
tested annually for impairment irrespective of whether any 
circumstances indicating a possible impairment have been 
identified.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  For the purposes 
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units).

(o) Income tax
The tax expense or revenue for the period comprises current 
and deferred tax.  Tax is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised in items of other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity.  In this case, the tax is also recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the total 
of the current period’s taxable income based on the national 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction plus/minus any prior 
years’ under/over provisions, plus/minus movements in the 
deferred tax balance except where the movement in deferred 
tax is attributable to a movement in reserves. 

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, 
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
financial statements.  However, deferred tax liabilities are not 
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.  

Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises 
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or 
loss.  Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance date and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income 
tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary 
differences and unused tax losses only to the extent that it 
is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to 
utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income 
taxes’ assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or 
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle 
the balances on a net basis.
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(p) Intangible assets
(i) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition 
over the fair value of the Group’s (or Company’s) share of the 
net identifiable assets of the acquired business or entity at the 
date of acquisition.  G  oodwill on acquisitions of businesses 
and subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.  Goodwill 
acquired in business combinations is not amortised.  Instead, 
goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might 
be impaired.  Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.  Gains and losses on the disposal of an 
entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the 
entity disposed of.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired 
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units (CGUs), or groups of cash-generating units, that 
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.  
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated 
represents the lowest level within the entity at which the 
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. 

(ii) Computer software
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on 
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use 
the specific software.   These costs are amortised over their 
estimated useful lives (typically, three years).

(iii) Emission Trading Scheme assets
Carbon emission units are recognised at their initial cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses.  For the purpose of 
impairment testing, carbon emission units are allocated to the 
cash-generating unit to which they relate.

(iv) Easements
Easements are perpetual rights over land owned by others.  
The Group obtains easements in order to protect access to its 
network assets where these are sited on or pass over privately 
owned land.  

Easements are deemed to have an indefinite useful life as the 
Grants do not have a maturity date and the Group expects 
to use and have benefit from each easement indefinitely.  
Therefore the Group does not amortise the cost of easements 
acquired.  The Group reviews the carrying value of easements 
annually for impairment, and writes down the carrying value if 
any are found to be impaired.  

The Group capitalises the direct costs of acquiring easements, 
including registration and legal costs and lump sum payments 
made to compensate the landowner for diminution in the 
value of the land that is subject to the easement.

(v) Customer intangibles
Customer relationships acquired as part of a business 
combination are recognised separately from goodwill.  
Customer relationships have a finite life and are carried at 
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.  
Amortisation is calculated using the straight line method to 
allocate the cost of consumer relationships over their estimated 
useful lives.  The estimated useful life varies between business 
segments, from five to 10 years.

(q) Interest-bearing liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, 
net of transaction costs incurred.   Interest-bearing liabilities 
are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference 
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value is recognised in the profit or loss component 
of the statement of comprehensive income over the period of 
the borrowings using the effective interest method.  

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the 
relevant Group company has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
balance date.

(r) Inventories
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods 
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost 
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate 
proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, 
the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating 
capacity.  Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory 
on the basis of weighted average costs.  Net realisable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business 
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

(s) Investment property
Investment property, comprising three dwellings, is held for 
long‑term rental yields and is not occupied by any member of 
the Group.  Investment property is measured initially at cost, 
including transaction costs.  Investment property is carried at 
fair value, which is based on active market prices, adjusted, 
if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or 
condition of the specific asset.  The Group obtains regular open 
market valuations of the investment properties from suitably 
qualified independent valuers.   Changes in fair values are 
recorded in the statement of comprehensive income within 
profit or loss as an constituent of fair value gains or losses on 
financial assets in the period in which they arise.  

An investment property is derecognised on disposal or when 
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from 
use and no future economic benefits are expected from 
disposal.  Any gain or loss on derecognition of the property is 
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is 
derecognised.

(t) Investments and other financial assets
Classification
The G roup classifies its financial assets in the following 
categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables, and available for sale.  The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.  
Management determines the classification of its financial 
assets at initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial 
assets held for trading.  A financial asset is classified in this 
category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the 
short term.  Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading 
unless they are designated as hedges.  Assets in this category 
are classified as current assets if expected to be settled within 
12 months, otherwise they are classified as non‑current.
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(ii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non‑derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market.  They are included in current assets, except 
for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period.  These are classified as non‑current assets.  
The Group’s loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and other 
receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the statements 
of financial position (notes 2(f) and (z)).

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available‑for‑sale financial assets are non‑derivatives that are 
either designated in this category or not classified in any of the 
other categories.  They are included in non‑current assets unless 
the investment matures or management intends to dispose of it 
within 12 months of the end of the reporting period. 

Recognition and measurement
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised 
on the trade‑date – the date on which the Group commits to 
purchase or sell the asset.  Investments are initially recognised 
at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not 
carried at fair value through profit or loss.  F  inancial assets 
carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised 
at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the profit 
or loss component of the statement of comprehensive 
income.  Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have 
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially 
all risks and rewards of ownership.  Available‑for‑sale financial 
assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
are subsequently carried at fair value.  Loans and receivables 
are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.  

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the 
‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category 
are presented in the profit or loss component of the statement 
of comprehensive income within ‘other (losses)/gains – net’ in 
the period in which they arise.  Dividend income from financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the 
profit or loss component of the statement of comprehensive 
income as part of other income when the Group’s right to 
receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non‑monetary 
securities classified as available for sale are recognised in 
other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available for sale are sold or 
impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised 
in equity are included in the profit or loss component of the 
statement of comprehensive income as ‘gains and losses from 
investment securities’.  

Interest on available‑for‑sale securities calculated using the 
effective interest method is recognised in the profit or loss 
component of the statement of comprehensive income 
as part of finance income.   Dividends on available‑for‑sale 
equity instruments are recognised in the profit and loss 
component of the statements of comprehensive income 
as part of other income when the Group’s right to receive 
payments is established.  

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Impairment of financial assets
(i) Assets carried at amortised cost
The G roup assesses at the end of each reporting period 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired.   A financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses 
are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event 
(or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows 
of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated. 

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the 
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant 
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or 
principal payments, the probability that they will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where 
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease 
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears 
or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For the loans and receivables category, the amount of the 
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been 
incurred), discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statements 
of comprehensive income.   If a loan or held‑to‑maturity 
investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate 
for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective 
interest rate determined under the contract.   As a practical 
expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis 
of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.  

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such 
as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal 
of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in 
profit or loss.

(ii) Assets classified as available for sale
The G roup assesses at the end of each reporting period 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired.  For debt securities, the 
Group uses the criteria referred to in (a) above.  In the case of 
equity investments classified as available for sale, a significant 
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below 
its cost is also evidence that the assets are impaired.  If any 
such evidence exists for available‑for‑sale financial assets, the 
cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the 
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment 
loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or 
loss – is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss.  
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(u) Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards 
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases.  Payments made under operating leases (net 
of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the 
profit or loss component of the statement of comprehensive 
income on a straight‑line basis over the period of the lease.

(v) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, including the distribution 
network
Property, plant and equipment (excluding generation 
plant) and the distribution network are shown at cost, less 
subsequent depreciation.  On transition to NZ IFRS the Group 
has taken the deemed cost exemption available under NZ IFRS 
1 to take the previous NZ FRS revaluations of the distribution 
asset and of land and buildings that were carried out at 31 
March 2004 as deemed cost as at that date, on the grounds 
that the revaluations represented fair value at the date they 
were made.  

Additions to the distribution system, land and buildings made 
subsequently to 31 March 2004 are shown at historic cost.  
Depreciation on these asset classes has been charged on both 
the deemed cost element and the subsequent additions.

Generation assets
Until 31 March 2014, the G roup’s generation assets and its 
access to geothermal resource assets were accounted for 
at cost, less subsequent depreciation.   Effective 31 M arch 
2014 the G roup changed its accounting policy in respect 
of generation plant and equipment.   A valuation was 
undertaken as at that date and the carrying value has been 
restated in these financial statements.   This gave rise to a 
revaluation surplus that has been recognised through other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the 
heading of revaluation reserve.  Valuations will henceforth be 
undertaken at sufficiently regular intervals so that the carrying 
amount does not differ materially from that which would be 
determined using fair value at the end of the reporting period.  

Additions made subsequent to a periodic revaluation are 
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation until the date of 
the next revaluation of the asset class, at which point they are 
included in the updated valuation total.

Other property, plant and equipment
All other property, plant and equipment is stated at cost 
less depreciation.   Cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items.  

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount 
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which 
they are incurred.

Depreciation
Land is not depreciated.

Fit‑outs to leasehold buildings are depreciated on the straight 
line basis over the term of the underlying lease.  It is assumed 
that leases will terminate at their next renewal date unless 
management has already planned to extend the lease beyond 
that date, in which case the term for depreciation purposes 
runs to the intended termination date.  

Depreciation on other assets is calculated using either the 
straight line or diminishing value methods to allocate their 
cost, net of their residual value, over their estimated useful 
life, as follows:

Straight Line basis 	 Years
Distribution system
   –  Lines, transformers and sub‑stations	 45‑60
   –  Switchgear	 35
   –  SCADA communications equipment	 15
Freehold buildings	 50
Freehold building fit‑outs	 5‑10
Investment property chattels	 5‑10
Plant, equipment and furniture	 5‑20
Plant and equipment ‑ electronic	 5‑10
Chainsaws	 3
Resource Consents	 20
Wellsite assets	 20
Generation plant and equipment	 5‑50

Diminishing Value basis	 Rate
Motor vehicles	 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised 
in the profit or loss component of the statement of 
comprehensive income.

(w) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.  
Restructuring provisions include any applicable lease 
termination penalties and employee termination payments.  
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.  
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(x) Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value for the sale of goods and 
services, net of Goods and Services Tax, rebates and discounts 
and after eliminating any profits on intra‑divisional sales 
within the P arent Company and all material transactions 
between members of the Group on consolidation.  Revenue is 
recognised as follows:

(i) Electricity line and generation revenue
Electricity line revenue is recognised in profit or loss on the 
basis of amounts received and receivable by the Company for 
line function services supplied to customers in the ordinary 
course of business.  Electricity line revenue is based on actual 
and assessed meter readings and includes an allowance for 
unread meters at balance date.

Electricity generation income is recognised as electricity is 
generated and sold.

(ii) Sales of services and other revenue
Sales of services are recognised in the accounting period in 
which the services are rendered, by reference to completion 
of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual 
service provided as a proportion of the total services to 
be provided.  Other revenue is generally recognised in the 
accounting period in which it arises.  Typically this will be on 
completion of the underlying transaction.

(iii) Capital contributions
Funds received from customers, as a contribution towards 
the cost of uneconomic supply facilities, are recognised 
in profit or loss as soon as any obligations attaching to the 
contributions have been met.  F  or contributions that are 
refundable, there is a period of five years from the date 
of receipt (10 years for contributions received prior to 1 
September 2011) within which a part or all of the contribution 
may be refunded to the customer.

(iv) Contracting revenue
Contract revenue and expenses are recognised in accordance 
with the percentage of completion method unless the 
outcome of the contract cannot be reliably estimated.  Where 
it is probable that a loss will arise from a contract, the excess 
of total costs over revenue is recognised as an expense 
immediately.

Where the outcome of a contract cannot be reliably estimated, 
contract costs are recognised as an expense as incurred, and 
where it is probable that the costs will be recovered, revenue 
is recognised to the extent of costs incurred.

For fixed-price contracts, the stage of completion is measured 
by reference to costs incurred to date as a percentage of 
estimated total contract costs for each contract.  R  evenue 
from “cost plus” contracts is recognised by reference to the 
recoverable costs incurred during the reporting period plus 
the percentage of revenue earned.  The percentage of revenue 
earned is measured by the proportion that costs incurred to 
date bear to the estimated total costs of the contract.

(v) Farming income
The Group’s entire output of milk is sold under a rolling contract 
to F onterra Co‑operative G roup Ltd (“Fonterra”).   Sales are 
accounted for on the basis of the component elements of the 
milk collected by Fonterra from the Group’s property.  Fonterra 
issues a self‑billing invoice for milk collected each calendar 
month.  The Group accrues for any further income receivable 
based on the difference between the latest indicative price for 
milk solids published by Fonterra for the season and the lower 
interim price which Fonterra applies in its monthly self‑billing 
invoices and which Fonterra subsequently adjusts.  

Sales of biological assets are recognised when the Group 
finalises a contract for sale with the purchaser.  

(vi) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it arises.

(vii) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive 
payment is established.

(y) Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Company or the Group prior to the end of 
the accounting period and which are unpaid at that date.  The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition.

Provisions for the Group’s obligations under the New Zealand 
Emissions Trading Scheme are recognised when the Group’s 
liability is incurred under Scheme regulations.  The liability is 
calculated in accordance with the prescribed regulations and 
is recognised at the cost value of the emission units acquired 
to meet the obligation.  

Each type of carbon emission unit is surrendered in order of 
their expiry, shortest‑dated first.  U  nits that have no expiry 
date are surrendered after units that do have an expiry date, 
on a first‑in, first‑out basis.

The Group recognises a liability in respect of its obligation 
to surrender carbon emission units, within current liabilities 
‑ payables.  The liability is measured at the cost of the units 
to be surrendered, recognised in accordance with the above 
paragraph.

(z) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services 
supplied or goods sold in the ordinary course of business.  If 
collection is expected within one year or less of balance date, 
they are classified as current assets.  If not, they are presented 
as non‑current assets.

Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis.  Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written 
off.  A provision for doubtful receivables is established when 
there is objective evidence that the G roup will not be able 
to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of 
receivables.   The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the value of 
estimated future cash flows.   The amount of the provision, 
plus any subsequent recovery of amounts previously written 
off,   are recognised in the profit or loss component of the 
statement of comprehensive income within ‘other expenses’.  
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(aa) Changes in accounting policies
All accounting policies have been applied on a basis consistent 
with those applied during the prior year except for the change 
from cost basis to revaluation basis in respect of one class of 
property, plant and equipment.  Details of the financial effect 
of that change are given in notes 16 and 34(a).

(ab) Adoption status of relevant new financial 
reporting standards and interpretations
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published 
standards that came into effect during the reporting year
The following standards have been adopted by the Group 
for the first time for the financial year beginning on or after  
1 April 2013:

Amendments to NZ IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
— O ffsetting F inancial Assets and F inancial Liabilities – 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013.  This amends the disclosure requirements in NZ IFRS 
7 F inancial Instruments: Disclosure to require information 
about all recognised financial instruments that are set off in 
accordance with NZ IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.  
The amendments also require disclosure of information about 
recognised financial instruments subject to enforceable master 
netting arrangements and similar agreements even if they are 
not set off under NZ IAS 32.  This amendment has not affected 
any of the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated F inancial Statements, NZ IAS 27 
Separate Financial Statements (revised 2011), NZ IAS 28 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (revised 2011) – 
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2013.  These standards replace NZ IAS 27 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements and NZ SIC‑12 Consolidation 
– Special Purpose Entities.  There has been minimal impact on 
the Group from these standards as the only Group entity with 
less than 100% Group ownership is already consolidated on an 
equity basis, and the Group has no investments in associates 
or participation in joint ventures.

NZ IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities – effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with 
early adoption permitted.   This Standard applies to entities 
that have an interest in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 
associates or unconsolidated structured entities.  It establishes 
disclosure objectives and specifies minimum disclosures that 
an entity must provide to meet those objectives.  The adoption 
of this standard requires the G roup to disclose information 
that helps users of its financial statements evaluate the nature 
of and risks associated with its interests in other entities and 
the effects of those interests on its financial statements.  This 
standard has no financial effect.  

NZ IFRS 13 F air Value M easurement – effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, with early 
application permitted.   This Standard establishes a single 
framework for measuring fair value where that is required by 
other Standards, and applies to both financial and non‑financial 
items measured at fair value.  

Fair value is defined as “the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date” (i.e. 
an exit price).   Adoption of this standard has resulted in a 
number of additional disclosures in the financial statements, 
but has not resulted in any material measurement changes.

NZ IAS 1 (amendment) Presentation of Financial Statements.  
The amendment retains the option to present profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income in either a single 
continuous statement or in two separate but consecutive 
statements.  Items of other comprehensive income are 
required to be grouped into those that may and may not 
subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss.  Tax on items 
of other comprehensive income is required to be allocated 
on the same basis.   The measurement and recognition of 
items of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
are not affected by the amendment.   This amendment has 
not affected any of the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements, but has made changes to the disclosure of items 
of other comprehensive income.

NZ IAS 19 Employee benefits.  This standard has had no direct 
effect on the G roup as the G roup’s exposure in respect of 
retirement benefits is in the form of Kiwisaver contributions 
which are recognised and settled as they arise.  

Annual Improvements to NZ IFRSs: 2010‑2012 Cycle – effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014 with 
earlier application permitted.   The G roup has applied the 
amendments to NZ IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 
in respect of the revaluation of generation plant that was 
undertaken at 31 March 2014.  None of the other amendments 
in this cycle have any direct impact on the Group. 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing 
standards that are not yet effective and have not been early 
adopted by the Group
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to 
existing standards have been published that are mandatory for 
the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 
2014 but which the Group has not early adopted:

NZ IFRS 9 F inancial instruments – effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 
with early adoption permitted.   This standard introduces 
new requirements for the classification and measurement 
of financial assets.   All recognised financial assets that are 
currently in the scope of NZ IAS 39 will be measured at either 
amortised cost or fair value.  In order for financial assets to be 
measured at amortised cost certain criteria must be met.  A 
revision to NZ IFRS 9 also adds guidance on the classification 
and measurement of financial liabilities and the derecognition 
of financial instruments.  

Most of the requirements in NZ IAS 39 for classification and 
measurement of financial liabilities were carried forward 
unchanged to NZ IFRS 9.  Most of the requirements in NZ IAS 39 
in relation to the derecognition of financial assets and financial 
liabilities have been retained, but additional disclosures 
are now required under NZ IFRS 7.   This new standard and 
subsequent revision are likely to affect the Group’s accounting 
for its financial assets and liabilities.  However, the Group is yet 
to assess NZ IFRS 9’s full impact and has not yet decided when 
to adopt NZ IFRS 9.
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Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, 
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in O ther Entities and IAS 27 
Separate Financial Statements – Investment Entities – effective 
for annual periods beginning on or  after 1 January 2014.  

The amendments set out new requirements for investment 
entities.  Where an entity qualifies as an “investment entity” 
it does not consolidate its subsidiaries but measures its 
investments at fair value.   Consideration of the criteria for 
meeting the definition of an “investment entity” will require 
a degree of judgement based on facts and circumstances, and 
these changes may impact entities beyond those traditionally 
seen as investment‑type entities.  The Group is yet to assess 
the full impact of these amendments.

NZ IAS 32 (amendment) Financial Instruments: Presentation ‑ 
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities ‑ effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 and 
requires retrospective application for comparative periods.  
The amendments are intended to clarify existing application 
issues relating to the offsetting rules and reduce the level of 
diversity in current practice.   The amendment clarifies the 
meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set‑off’ 
and ‘simultaneous realisation and settlement’.   The G roup 
does not anticipate any significant impact to result from the 
application of this amendment.

Amendments to NZ IAS 36 Impairment of Assets ‑ effective for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 
with earlier adoption permitted.   This amendment removes 
certain disclosures regarding the recoverable amount of cash-
generating units included in NZ IAS 36 arising from the issue 
of NZ IFRS 13.  

IFRIC 21 Levies sets out the accounting for an obligation to pay 
a levy that is not income tax.   The interpretation addresses 
what the obligating event is that gives rise to paying a levy 
and when a liability should be recognised.  The Group is not 
currently subjected to significant levies so the impact on the 
Group is not expected to be material.  

Annual Improvements to NZ IFRSs: 2011‑2013 Cycle – effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014 with 
earlier application permitted.  None of the amendments in this 
cycle have any direct impact on the Group. 
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3  :  Financial risk management
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 
market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate 
risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and 
liquidity risk.  The Group’s overall risk management programme 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance of the Group.  

The G roup uses derivative financial instruments such as 
forward foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps 
to hedge certain risk exposures.   The G roup uses different 
methods to measure different types of risk to which it is 
exposed.   These methods include sensitivity analysis in the 
case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks 
and ageing analysis for credit risk.

Risk management is carried out by senior management under 
policies approved by the Board of Directors.  M  anagement 
identifies and evaluates relevant financial risks and acts to 
maintain these where possible within the parameters set out by 
the Board of Directors.  The Board provides written principles 
for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific 
areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit 
risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non‑derivative 
financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial 
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities that are 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional 
currency.  The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and 
cash flow forecasting.

At 31 March 2014 foreign exchange risk exposure arose primarily 
in respect of a liability denominated in US dollars.  The liability 
relates to the purchase of materials and equipment which are 
due for settlement at various dates between June 2014 and 
December 2014.  The total commitment at 31 March 2014 was 
US$792,225.  To limit the effect of currency exposure, prior to 
balance date the Group entered into a series of forward foreign 
currency contracts for amounts totalling US$988,225.  The 
remaining contracts have been retranslated at the exchange 
rate applying at the balance date and adjusted for credit risk.  
The resulting unrealised loss has been charged to profit or loss 
and included in the statement of financial position.  

(ii) Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk.  This arises 
from an investment held by the Group and classified on the 
balance sheet as available for sale.  

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The G roup’s main interest rate risk arises from long‑term 
borrowings.  Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the 
Group to cash flow interest rate risk.   Throughout the years 
ended 31 March 2014 and 2013, the Group’s borrowings at 
variable rate were denominated in New Zealand dollars.

The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using 
floating‑to‑fixed interest rate swaps.  Such interest rate swaps 
have the economic effect of converting borrowings from 
floating rates to fixed rates.  Generally, the Group raises long-
term borrowings at floating rates and swaps them into fixed 
rates that are lower than those available if the Group borrowed 

at fixed rates directly.  Under the interest rate swaps, the Group 
agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified intervals 
(mainly quarterly), the difference between fixed contract rates 
and floating‑rate interest amounts, calculated by reference to 
the agreed notional principal amounts.

Interest rate risk arises in respect of the portion of the Group’s 
borrowings that is not covered by interest rate swaps.  At 31 
March 2014, if interest rates had changed by ‑/+1% (=100bp) 
from the average period rate of 3.7% with all other variables 
held constant, the effect on post‑tax profit for the year in 
respect of that element of total borrowings would have been 
$44,000 higher / lower (2013: $74,000 higher / lower based on 
an average rate for the period of 4.2%).

If the above sensitivity calculation were applied to the total of 
interest rate swaps entered into by the Group at balance date, 
the effect of a change of ‑/+ 1% (=100bp) in the floating rate 
element of those swaps would result in an increase / reduction 
in the fair value derivative loss recognised at balance date of 
$1,505,000 (2013: $2,902,000).

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is managed on a group basis.  Credit risk arises from 
cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and 
deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit 
exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and 
committed transactions.  For banks and financial institutions, 
only independently rated parties with a minimum credit rating 
of ‘A’ are accepted.   If other customers are independently 
rated, these ratings are used. 

Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, management 
assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account 
its financial position, past experience and other factors.  
Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external 
ratings in accordance with limits set by the Board.   The 
utilisation of credit limits by customers is regularly monitored 
by management.

Two customers comprised 58% of the G roup’s total trade 
accounts receivable as at 31 March 2014 (2013: 51% of the 
Group’s total trade accounts receivable).  Subsequent to the 
balance dates, the amounts then due were cleared.  The 
Group does not expect the non‑performance of any material 
obligations as at the balance date.

Credit risk arises from the potential failure of counterparties 
to meet their obligations under the respective contracts at 
maturity.  This arises on derivative financial instruments with 
unrealised gains.   At 31 March 2014 there were unrealised 
gains of $505,000 on interest rate swaps of $10,000,000 and 
no unrealised gains on forward foreign exchange contracts.  At 
31 March 2013 there were no unrealised gains on interest rate 
swaps and the Group had not entered into any forward foreign 
exchange contracts.  

The G roup undertakes all of its transactions in foreign 
exchange and interest rate contracts with trading banks that 
are registered with the Reserve Bank of New Zealand.  

(c) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining 
sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities.  Due to the 
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		  Less than	 Between 1 	 Between 2	 Over		
		  1 year	 & 2 years	 & 5 years	 5 years 
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

At 31 March 2014	 Group				  
	 	 Bank overdrafts and loans	 	 5,398	 8,164	 122,389	 15,000	 	
		O  ther loans		  1,639	 –	 –	 –	
		T  rade and other payables		  6,315	 –	 –	 –	

		  Parent				  
	 	 Bank overdrafts and loans	 	 5,383	 8,164	 122,389	 15,000	
		O  ther loans		  1,639	 –	 –	 –	
	 	 Trade and other payables	 	 5,759	 –	 –	 –	

At 31 March 2013	 Group				  
	 	 Bank overdrafts and loans	 	 4,563	 53,128	 83,036	 –	
		O  ther loans		  1,605	 –	 –	 –	
	 	 Trade and other payables	 	 8,079	 –	 –	 –	

		  Parent				  
	 	 Bank overdrafts and loans	 	 4,563	 53,128	 83,036	 –	
		O  ther loans		  1,605	 –	 –	 –	
	 	 Trade and other payables	 	 7,308	 –	 –	 –	

		  Less than	 Between 1 	 Between 2	 Over		
		  1 year	 & 2 years	 & 5 years	 5 years 
	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

At 31 March 2014					   
Forward foreign exchange contracts – held for trading			 
–	 inflow	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	
–	 outflow	 	 	 (61)	 –	 –	 –
Interest rate swaps – held for trading			 
–	 inflow	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	
–	 outflow	 	 	 (2,882)	 (2,855)	 (6,293)	 (1,493)

At 31 March 2013				  
Interest rate swaps – held for trading			 
–	 inflow	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	
–	 outflow	 	 	 (3,358)	 (3,308)	 (8,330)	 (3,507)	

dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Group’s 
management aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping 
committed credit lines available. M anagement monitors 
rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity requirements on the 
basis of expected cash flow.  

The table below analyses the G roup’s derivative financial 
instruments that will be settled on a net basis into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance 
date to the contractual maturity date.  The amounts disclosed 
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.   

Cash flow forecasting is performed in aggregate by the 
Group.  The Group monitors rolling forecasts of its liquidity 
requirements, to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet its 
operational needs whilst maintaining sufficient headroom on 
its undrawn committed borrowing facilities at all times, so that 
the Group does not breach its borrowing limits or covenants (as 

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities, excluding 
derivative financial instruments (which are shown separately), 
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period 
at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.   The 
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows and include interest to maturity.

For the purposes of calculating the undiscounted contractual 
cashflows on the interest rate swaps, it has been assumed that 
the base rate driving the floating portion will remain the same 
throughout the term of each contract.

applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities.  Such forecasting 
takes into consideration the G roup’s debt financing plans, 
covenant compliance, compliance with internal balance sheet 
ratio targets and, where applicable, external regulatory or legal 
requirements (for example, currency restrictions).
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(d)  Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active 
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and 
available‑for‑sale securities) is based on quoted market prices 
at the balance date.  The quoted market price used for financial 
assets held by the Group is the current bid price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in 
an active market (for example, over‑the‑counter derivatives) 
is determined using valuation techniques.  The Group uses a 
variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based 
on market conditions existing at the relevant balance date.  
Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments 
are used as the basis for valuing interest rate swaps and forward 
foreign exchange contracts.  Additional credit and debit value 
adjustments are made to the market prices in order to arrive 
at fair values as defined by NZ IFRS 13.  The Group employs 
specialist independent valuers to calculate these valuations.  

The carrying value, less impairment provision, of trade 
receivables and payables is a reasonable approximation of their 
fair values due to the short‑term nature of trade receivables.  
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is 
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at 
the current market interest rate that is available to the Group 
for similar financial instruments.

The G roup applies the provisions of IFRS 7 for financial 
instruments that are measured in the statement of financial 
position at fair value.   This requires disclosure of fair value 
measurements by level of the following fair value measurement 
hierarchy:
–	 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 

assets or liabilities (Level 1).
–	I nputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 

that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) 
(Level 2).

–	I nputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) 
(Level 3).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active 
markets is based on quoted market prices at balance date.  A 
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and 
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry 
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices 
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions 
on an arm’s length basis.  

The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the 
group is the current bid price.  These instruments are included 
in level 1.  Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily 
equity investments quoted on a recognised stock exchange 
that are classified as trading securities or available‑for‑sale.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in 
an active market (for example, over‑the‑counter derivatives) 
is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation 
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where 
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity-specific 
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an 
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on 
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial 
instruments include:
–	Q uoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar 

instruments.
–	T he fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the 

present value of the estimated future cash flows based on 
observable yield curves.

–	T he fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is 
determined using forward exchange rates at the balance 
sheet date, with the resulting value discounted back to 
present value.  

The following table presents the Group’s and Parent’s assets 
and liabilities that are measured at fair value.  Refer to note 
16 for disclosures of generation plant that are measured at 
fair value.
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There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the year. 

		  Level 1	 Level 2 	 Level 3	 Total balance	 	
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

Consolidated – At 31 March 2014				  
Assets				  
Assets at fair value through profit or loss
–  Trading derivatives	 	 –	 505	 –	 505	
–  Biological assets		  –	 938	 –	 938	
–  Investment properties	 	 –	 665	 –	 665	
Available‑for‑sale financial assets
–  Equity securities	 	 399	 –	 –	 399	
Total assets		  399	 2,108	 –	 2,507	

Liabilities				  
Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
–  Trading derivatives	 	 –	 3,905	 –	 3,905	
Total liabilities		  –	 3,905	 –	 3,905	

Consolidated – At 31 March 2013				  
Assets				  
Assets at fair value through profit or loss
–  Biological assets	 	 –	 457	 –	 457	
Total assets		  –	 457	 –	 457	

Liabilities				  
Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
–  Trading derivatives	 	 –	 10,014	 –	 10,014	
Total liabilities		  –	 10,014	 –	 10,014	

PARENT – At 31 March 2014				  
Assets				  
Assets at fair value through profit or loss
–  Trading derivatives	 	 –	 505	 –	 505	
–  Biological assets	 	 –	 457	 –	 457	
Total assets		  –	 962	 –	 962	

Liabilities				  
Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
–  Trading derivatives	 	 –	 3,905	 –	 3,905	
Total liabilities		  –	 3,905	 –	 3,905

PARENT – At 31 March 2013				  
Assets				  
Assets at fair value through profit or loss
–  Biological assets	 	 –	 457	 –	 457	
Total assets		  –	 457	 –	 457	

Liabilities				  
Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
–  Trading derivatives	 	 –	 10,014	 –	 10,014	
Total liabilities		  –	 10,014	 –	 10,014
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(e)  Financial instruments by category 

		  	 Assets at fair	 Available for			 
		  Loans and	 value through	 sale financial			 
		  receivables	 profit or loss	 assets	 Total 
FINANCIAL ASSETS as per balance sheet		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

Consolidated – At 31 March 2014				  
Derivative financial instruments	 	 –	 505	 –	 505	
Trade and other receivables	 	 6,439	 –	 –	 6,439	
Available for sale financial assets	 	 –	 –	 399	 399	
Other financial assets	 	 461	 –	 –	 461	
Cash and cash equivalents		  5	 –	 –	 5	
			   6,905	 505	 399	 7,809	
Consolidated – At 31 March 2013		
Trade and other receivables	 	 6,587	 –	 –	 6,587	
Other financial assets	 	 451	 –	 –	 451	
Cash and cash equivalents		  62	 –	 –	 62		
			   7,100	 –	 –	 7,100

Parent – At 31 March 2014				  
Derivative financial instruments	 	 –	 505	 –	 505	
Trade and other receivables	 	 56,726	 –	 –	 56,726	
Cash and cash equivalents		  1	 –	 –	 1
			   56,727	 505	 –	 57,232	
Parent – At 31 March 2013				  
Trade and other receivables	 	 56,843	 –	 –	 56,843	
Cash and cash equivalents		  1	 –	 –	 1	
			   56,844	 –	 –	 56,844	

	 	 Financial liabilities	 Financial liabilities			 
		  at fair value through	 at amortised cost	 Total 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES as per balance sheet 		    profit or loss   $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

Consolidated – At 31 March 2014				  
Borrowings	 	 	 –	 135,149	 135,149	
Derivative financial instruments	 	 	 3,905	 –	 3,905	
Trade and other payables			   –	 6,320	 6,320	
				    3,905	 141,469	 145,374	
Consolidated – At 31 March 2013				  
Borrowings			   –	 129,331	 129,331	
Derivative financial instruments	 	 	 10,014	 –	 10,014	
Trade and other payables			   –	 8,080	 8,080	
				    10,014	 137,411	 147,425	

Parent – At 31 March 2014				  
Borrowings	 	 	 –	 135,134	 135,134	
Derivative financial instruments	 	 	 3,905	 –	 3,905	
Trade and other payables	 	 	 –	 5,761	 5,761	
				    3,905	 140,895	 144,800	
Parent – At 31 March 2013				  
Borrowings			   –	 129,326	 129,326	
Derivative financial instruments	 	 	 10,014	 –	 10,014	
Trade and other payables	 	 	 –	 7,308	 7,308	
				    10,014	 136,634	 146,648
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4  :  Critical accounting estimates and judgments
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are addressed below.

(i) Fair value of derivatives
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in 
an active market (for example, over‑the‑counter derivatives) 
is determined by using valuation techniques.   The G roup 
uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and make 
assumptions that are based mainly on market conditions 
existing at each balance date.

(ii) Goodwill
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any 
impairment, in accordance with its accounting policy in note 
2(p)(i).  The recoverable amounts have been determined 
based on value‑in‑use calculations.   These require estimates 
as to future profitability of the relevant business units to 
which goodwill has been allocated (refer to note 18(a)).  The 
Directors believe the carrying value of goodwill is supportable.

(iii) Valuation and impairment of distribution network and 
generation assets
The Group considers annually whether the carrying values 
of the distribution network and generation assets are 
supportable, based on their expected value‑in‑use.   The 
carrying value of the distribution network at 31 March 2013 
(the latest available date) did not exceed its Regulatory Asset 
Basis value as defined in the Electricity Distribution Information 
Disclosure Determination 2012.  

From 31 M arch 2014, generation plant held by Ngawha 
Generation Ltd has been stated at revalued amounts.   The 
first revaluation was undertaken effective on that date.  The 
revaluation was undertaken by P ricewaterhouseCoopers 
(PwC), who are independent of the Group and of Ngawha 
Generation Ltd.  

A discounted cash flow (DCF) method was applied by PwC in 
estimating the fair value of the generation plant assets.  The 
underlying period over which the cashflows were estimated 
was for the 10 years ending 31 March 2024.   The forecasts 
included estimates of future revenues, operating costs, 
capital expenditure, tax depreciation charges, working capital 
movements and tax payments.  

The significant assumptions and value drivers made in the 
valuation process were: the projected wholesale electricity 
price path; asset lives; direct operating costs; carbon costs; tax 
depreciation rates; capital expenditure; changes in working 
capital; and Ngawha Generation Ltd’s weighted average cost 
of capital.  

The Directors consider that the carrying values of the 
distribution network and generation assets are supportable.

(iv) Expected useful life and depreciation rates for 
generation assets
In setting the expected useful lives of assets that comprise 
the Ngawha power station, it has been assumed that the 
necessary resource consents, which have a fixed life, will be 
renewed prior to their expiry.  

(b) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s 
accounting policies
In the process of applying the G roup’s accounting policies, 
which are described in note 2, management has made the 
following judgements that have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

(i) Line revenue recognition
Part of the network charges are based on normalisation, where 
consumption is estimated by the retailers who supply the 
consumer, to the end of the billing period based on historical 
actual electricity usage.  Occasionally, historical electricity 
usage data is not consistent and subsequent adjustments are 
made.  These adjustments are immaterial compared with total 
network revenue. 

(ii) Revenue recognition
The Company uses the percentage completion method in 
accounting for its fixed price contracts to deliver, design and 
construct services.  U  se of the percentage‑of‑completion 
method requires the Company to estimate the total cost of 
the contracts in order to determine the proportion of costs to 
date to the total costs, which it uses as an approximation of 
the percentage completed.

(iii) Impairment of available‑for‑sale equity investments
The Group follows the guidance of NZ IAS 39 to determine 
when an available‑for‑sale equity investment is impaired.  This 
determination requires significant judgement.  In making this 
judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors, the 
duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment 
is less than its cost; and the financial health of and short‑term 
business outlook for the investee, including factors such as 
industry and sector performance, changes in technology and 
operational and financing cash flow. 

If all of the declines in fair value below cost were considered 
significant or prolonged, the Group would suffer an additional 
loss of $114,000 in its 2014 financial statements (2013: $nil), 
being the transfer of the accumulated fair value adjustments 
recognised in equity on the impaired available‑for‑sale financial 
assets to the profit or loss component of the statement of 
comprehensive income.  
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

From continuing operations				  
Sales revenue
Electricity line revenue	 	 41,622	 41,034	 41,622	 41,034	
Network line charge discount	 	 (5,018)	 (5,073)	 (5,018)	 (5,073)	
Capital contributions	 	 490	 600	 490	 600	
Electricity sales	 	 17,495	 17,204	 –	 –	
Contracting	 	 3,080	 2,602	 3,080	 2,602	
Contact centre services	 	 2,481	 2,090	 –	 –	
Farming income	 	 722	 –	 –	 –	
			   60,872	 58,457	 40,174	 39,163	
Other revenue				  
Rents and sub‑lease rentals	 	 59	 72	 32	 72	
Interest received	 	 2	 109	 3,790	 4,544	
Dividends		  3	 –	 –	 2,500	
Other revenue	 	 312	 588	 294	 111	
			   376	 769	 4,116	 7,227	

			   61,248	 59,226	 44,290	 46,390	

From discontinued operations				  
Industrial electrical contracting division	 	 –	 886	 –	 886	
			   –	 886	 –	 886	

5  :  Revenue

Dividend income of the Parent in the year ended 31 March 2013 
arose from two subsidiaries and comprised $1,950,000 from 
Ngawha Generation Ltd and $550,000 from Ngawha Geothermal 

Resource Co Ltd, both of which were paid on 27 March 2013.  
There was no dividend income in the Parent in the year ended  
31 March 2014. These amounts were eliminated on consolidation.
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Expenses, excluding depreciation, amortisation  
and finance costs, included in the Statement of  
Comprehensive Income classified by nature
Raw materials and consumables used	 	 1,559	 939	 1,536	 731	
Employee benefits expense	 	 15,244	 13,949	 12,209	 11,391	
Other expenses	 	 7,343	 7,567	 2,246	 2,532	
Transmission charges	 	 5,111	 4,273	 7,278	 6,233	
			   29,257	 26,728	 23,269	 20,887	

Profit before income tax includes the following  
specific expenses:
Depreciation
Distribution system	 	 6,124	 5,843	 6,124	 5,843	
Generation plant	 	 5,797	 4,558	 –	 –	
Plant and equipment	 	 1,091	 1,573	 936	 911	
Vehicles	 	 929	 1,027	 899	 1,005	
Freehold buildings	 	 77	 70	 65	 63	
Leasehold buildings		  55	 53	 38	 36	
Total depreciation	 	 14,073	 13,124	 8,062	 7,858	

Amortisation
Software	 	 791	 522	 765	 510	
Amortisation of customer intangibles	 	 –	 1	 –	 1	
Total amortisation	 	 791	 523	 765	 511	

Total depreciation and amortisation		  14,864	 13,647	 8,827	 8,369	

Impairment charge ‑ see also note 18(a)	 	 –	 80	 –	 80	
Net loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant  
	 and equipment	 	 (94)	 16	 (94)	 18	

Rental expense relating to operating leases
Minimum lease payments	 	 789	 693	 612	 571	

Employee benefit expense
Wages and salaries, including restructuring costs  
	 and termination benefits (see below)	 	 14,439	 13,304	 11,499	 10,807	
ACC levies and employee medical insurance	 	 467	 443	 428	 412	
Pension costs ‑ defined contribution plans	 	 338	 202	 282	 172	
			   15,244	 13,949	 12,209	 11,391	

6  :  Expenses

Employee benefit expense includes restructuring costs of 
$346,000 in the year ended 31 March 2014 for both the Group 
and the Parent (2013: $nil for Group and Parent).

Items reported above exclude the expenses of discontinued 
operations in respect of the year ended 31 M arch 2013.  
There were no discontinued operations in the year ended  
31 March 2014.  
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7  :  Finance costs

8  :  Fair value gains / (losses) on financial assets 

Auditors’ fees
The following fees were paid or payable for services provided 
by the auditor of the G roup, its related practices and 
non‑related audit firms:

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Net gain (loss) on interest rate swaps	 	 6,675	 (943)	 6,675	 (943)	
Net gain (loss) on forward foreign currency contracts 		  (61)	 –	 (61)	 –	
Fair value adjustment to investment property		  28	 –	 –	 –	
			   6,642	 (943)	 6,614	 (943)	

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Interest and finance charges paid/payable	 	 8,586	 8,101	 8,580	 8,081	
Total finance costs		  8,586	 8,101	 8,580	 8,081	
	

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

(a) Assurance services				  
Audit services				  
Audit of the financial statements ‑ Deloitte	 	 118	 122	 76	 94	
Total remuneration for audit services		  118	 122	 76	 94	

Other assurance services				  
Audit of regulatory statements	 	 63	 48	 63	 48	
Other assurance services		  –	 16	 –	 –	
Total remuneration for other assurance services		  63	 64	 63	 48	

Total remuneration for assurance services		  181	 186	 139	 142	
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9  :  Income tax expense
(a) Income tax expense

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

(c) Tax (charge) / credit relating to components of other comprehensive income
The tax (charge) / credit relating to components of other comprehensive income is as follows:

There was no charge or credit in the Parent company, nor for the Group, for the year ended 31 March 2013.

					     Before tax	 Tax (expense)/benefit	 After tax		  	
					     $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

Consolidated Only – At 31 March 2014				  
Revaluation of generation plant	 	 	 78,015	 (21,844)	 56,171	
Other comprehensive income			   78,015	 (21,844)	 56,171	

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Profit from continuing operations before income  
	 tax expense	 	 15,183	 9,807	 10,228	 8,110	
(Loss) from discontinued operations before income  
	 tax expense	 	 –	 (140)	 –	 (140)	
			   15,183	 9,667	 10,228	 7,970	

Tax at the New Zealand tax rate of 28% (2013: 28% )	 	 4,251	 2,707	 2,864	 2,232	
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible  
	 (taxable) in calculating taxable income:
	 –  Non‑deductible expenditure	 	 11	 40	 9	 39	
	 –  Income not subject to tax	 	 (144)	 (168)	 (137)	 (868)	
Adjustment in respect of prior years	 	 16	 811	 14	 435	
Tax losses utilised	 	 (13)	 –	 –	 –	
Income tax expense		  4,121	 3,390	 2,750	 1,838

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013		
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Current tax				     
Current tax on profits for the year	 	 2,291	 2,649	 1,035	 1,825	
Adjustments in respect of prior years	 	 5	 699	 5	 149	
Total current tax		  2,296	 3,348	 1,040	 1,974	

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences	 	 1,814	 (70)	 1,701	 (422)	
Under (over) provided in prior years		  11	 112	 9	 286	
Total deferred tax		  1,825	 42	 1,710	 (136)	

Income tax expense		  4,121	 3,390	 2,750	 1,838	

Income tax expense is attributable to:
Profit (loss) from continuing operations	 	 4,121	 3,429	 2,750	 1,877	
Profit (loss) from discontinued operations	 	 –	 (39)	 –	 (39)	
Aggregate income tax expense		  4,121	 3,390	 2,750	 1,838	

Deferred income tax expense (benefit) included in  
	 income tax expense comprises:
Decrease (increase) in deferred tax assets (note 23)		  (1)	 –	 –	 –	
Increase (decrease) in deferred tax liabilities (note 31)		 1,826	 42	 1,710	 (136)	
			   1,825	 42	 1,710	 (136)
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

	 	 2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Revenue		  –	 886	 –	 886	
Expenses		  –	 (985)	 –	 (985)	
(Loss) before income tax   		  –	 (99)	 –	 (99)	

Income tax benefit	 	 –	 28	 –	 28	
(Loss) after income tax of discontinued operations	 	 –	 (71)	 –	 (71)	

(Loss) on sale of the division before income tax	 	 –	 (41)	 –	 (41)	
Income tax benefit	 	 –	 11	 –	 11	
(Loss) on sale of the division after income tax	 	 –	 (30)	 –	 (30)	

(Loss) from discontinued operations		  –	 (101)	 –	 (101)	

Cash flow:
Net cash inflow from operating activities	 	 –	 29	 –	 29	
Net cash (outflow) from investing activities	 	 –	 (43)	 –	 (43)	
Net (decrease) in cash generated by the division		  –	 (14)	 –	 (14)

			   Consolidated		  Parent

	 	 2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Consideration received or receivable:
Cash	 	 –	 64	 –	 64	
Total disposal consideration	 	 –	 64	 –	 64	

Deduct: carrying amount of net assets sold		  –	 (105)	 –	 (105)	
Loss on sale before income tax	 	 –	 (41)	 –	 (41)	
Income tax benefit	 	 –	 11	 –	 11	

Loss on sale after income tax		  –	 (30)	 –	 (30)

			   Consolidated		  Parent

	 	 2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Property, plant and equipment		  –	 98	 –	 98	
Inventories	 	 –	 7	 –	 7	
Total assets		  –	 105	 –	 105

Effective 31 O ctober 2012 the Top Electrical division of Top 
Energy Ltd ceased trading.  The business was taken on by a 
local electrical contracting company which also purchased 

The figures reported for 2013 relate to the 7 months ended 31 
October 2012. 

(c)  Carrying amounts of assets and liabilities at balance date – Top Electrical 

(b) Financial performance and cash flow information ‑ Disposal of the Top Electrical division of Top Energy Ltd

(d)  Details of the sale values of Top Electrical

The carrying amounts of assets disposed of as at 31 October 
2012 were:

certain tangible assets and stock in trade and took on the 
liability of the business’ existing lease over its premises.  

10  :  Discontinued operations
(a) Summary of discontinued operations
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Net trade receivables				  
Trade debtors	 	 6,648	 6,793	 4,543	 4,782	
Provision for doubtful receivables	 	 (209)	 (206)	 (195)	 (147)	
Net trade receivables		  6,439	 6,587	 4,348	 4,635	

Net related party receivables
Receivables from subsidiaries 		  –	 –	 10,683	 8,108	

Prepayments
Sundry prepayments	 	 989	 824	 626	 410	
Accrued income	 	 194	 –	 –	 –	
			   1,183	 824	 626	 410	

Total current receivables		  7,622	 7,411	 15,657	 13,153

12  :  Current assets – Receivables

At 31 March 2014, the element of Ngawha Generation Ltd’s 
interest bearing loan due to its Parent that is anticipated to be 
repaid within one year is $3,855,000 (2013: $7,398,000).  The 
remainder of the above balances are not interest‑bearing.

The effective average interest rate applied by Top Energy Ltd 

			   Consolidated		  Parent     

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Cash on hand		  1	 1	 1	 1	
Bank balances	 	 4	 61	 –	 –	
			   5	 62	 1	 1

(b) Cash at bank and on hand
These items are non-interest bearing.

11  :  Current assets – Cash and cash equivalents

(c) Fair value
The carrying amount for cash and cash equivalents equals 
their fair value.

(a) Reconciliation to cash at the balance date
Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the cash flow statements:

 
			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Balances as above		  5	 62	 1	 1	
Bank overdrafts (note 25)	 	 (156)	 (53)	 (141)	 (48)	
Cash and cash equivalents		  (151)	 9	 (140)	 (47)	

on the loan to Ngawha Generation Ltd during the year ended 
31 March 2014 was 7.2% (2013: 8.1%).  

No other subsidiaries are charged interest on their 
outstanding loan balances.  All other related party loans are 
repayable on demand.
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

One to three months	 	 98	 121	 84	 67	
More than three months	 	 111	 85	 111	 80
			   209	 206	 195	 147	

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

One to three months	 	 277	 113	 170	 82	
More than three months	 	 19	 29	 19	 26	
			   296	 142	 189	 108

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

At 1 April	 	 206	 213	 147	 171	
Provision for impairment arising during the year	 	 3	 –	 48	 –	
Provision for impairment released in the year	 	 –	 (7)	 –	 (24)	
At 31 March		  209	 206	 195	 147	

(a) Impaired receivables
At 31 March 2014 current trade receivables of the Group with 
a nominal value of $209,000 (2013: $206,000) and of the 
Parent with a nominal value of $195,000 (2013: $147,000) 

were impaired. These were provided for in full.  The ageing 
of these impaired receivables is as follows:

At 31 March 2014, trade receivables of the Group of $296,000 
(2013: $142,000) and of the P arent of $189,000 (2013: 
$108,000) were past due but not impaired.  These relate to 

a number of independent customers for whom there is no 
recent history of default.  The ageing analysis of these trade 
receivables is as follows:

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

The creation and release of the provision for impaired 
receivables has been included in ‘other expenses’ in profit or 
loss.  Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally 
written off when there is no expectation of recovering 
additional cash.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not 
contain impaired assets.

(b) Bad and doubtful trade receivables
The Group has recognised a gain of $9,000 (2013: loss of 
$28,000) and the Parent Company has recognised a loss of 
$2,000 (2013: loss of $12,000) in respect of bad and doubtful 
trade receivables during the year ended 31 March 2014.  These 
amounts have been included in ‘other expenses’ in profit or loss.

The P arent has provided $1,451,000 (2013: $1,352,000) 
against the related party receivable from Phone Plus 2000 
Limited at 31 March 2014.  This provision has been eliminated 
on consolidation.

(c) Foreign exchange and interest rate risk
A summarised analysis of the sensitivity of trade and other 
receivables to foreign exchange and interest rate risk can be 
found in note 3.

(d) Fair value and credit risk
Due to the short‑term nature of trade receivables, their 
carrying value is assumed to approximate to their fair value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is 
the fair value of each class of receivables mentioned above.  
The Group holds a bond from one electricity retailer for $28,750 
under the terms of a use of systems agreement.  The Group 
does not hold any other collateral as security.  Refer to note 3 
for more information on the Group’s risk management policy.
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Emission Trading Scheme Units	 	 461	 451	 –	 –	
			   461	 451	 –	 –	

15  :  Current assets – Intangible assets

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Excess of tax paid for current period over amount due		  3	 5	 –	 –	
Excess of tax paid for previous periods over amount due	 –	 1,688	 –	 1,688	
Tax benefit of losses	 	 41	 92	 –	 –	
			   44	 1,785	 –	 1,688	

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Raw materials
Raw materials at cost	 	 1,450	 1,204	 1,450	 1,204	

Construction work in progress
Contract costs incurred and recognised profits  
	 less recognised losses	 	 303	 45	 303	 45	
Progress billing	 	 (770)	 (242)	 (770)	 (242)	

			   983	 1,007	 983	 1,007	

14  :  Current assets – Current tax benefit

13  :  Current assets – Inventories

The Emission Trading Scheme Units have been purchased to 
settle the Group’s liabilities under the Scheme and are held in 
the Group’s account at the Registry.  They will be surrendered 
in the May following the end of the calendar year in which the 

liability arises. The Group had not entered into any forward 
contracts in respect of Emission Trading Scheme units at either 
balance date.
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	 	 Distribution	 Capital work	 Generation	 Plant and	 Motor	 Freehold	 Freehold 	 Leasehold	
		  system	 in progress	 plant	 equipment	 vehicles	 land	 buildings	 buildings	T otal
Consolidated	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

At 1 April 2012
Cost	 166,832	 10,294	 108,089	 10,494	 9,618	 3,609	 3,202	 446	 312,584	
Accumulated depreciation	 (36,295)	 –	 (29,696)	 (6,740)	 (4,773)	 –	 (616)	 (35)	 (78,155)	
Net book amount	 130,537	 10,294	 78,393	 3,754	 4,845	 3,609	 2,586	 411	 234,429	

Year ended 31 March 2013
Opening net book amount	 130,537	 10,294	 78,393	 3,754	 4,845	 3,609	 2,586	 411	 234,429	
Additions	 15,460	 12,456	 230	 1,684	 665	 1,284	 31	 23	 31,833	
Disposals	 –	 –	 –	 (1,741)	 (764)	 –	 –	 (65)	 (2,570)	
Transfers and reclassifications	 10,294	 (10,294)	 132	 (132)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	
Depreciation charge	 (5,843)	 –	 (4,558)	 (1,580)	 (1,036)	 –	 (69)	 (65)	 (13,151)	
Depreciation released on  
	 disposals	 –	 –	 –	 1,661	 576	 –	 –	 19	 2,256	
Closing net book amount	 150,448	 12,456	 74,197	 3,646	 4,286	 4,893	 2,548	 323	 252,797	

At 31 March 2013
Cost	 192,586	 12,456	 109,646	 9,108	 9,520	 4,893	 3,233	 403	 341,845	
Accumulated depreciation	 (42,138)	 –	 (35,449)	 (5,462)	 (5,234)	 –	 (685)	 (80)	 (89,048)	
Net book amount	 150,448	 12,456	 74,197	 3,646	 4,286	 4,893	 2,548	 323	 252,797

	 	 Distribution	 Capital work	 Generation	 Plant and	 Motor	 Freehold	 Freehold 	 Leasehold	
		  system	 in progress	 plant	 equipment	 vehicles	 land	 buildings	 buildings	T otal
Consolidated	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Year ended 31 March 2014
Opening net book amount	 150,448	 12,456	 74,197	 3,646	 4,286	 4,893	 2,548	 323	 252,797	
Additions	 11,861	 7,948	 1,247	 790	 686	 2,239	 246	 35	 25,052	
Disposals	 –	 –	 (4)	 (14)	 (421)	 –	 –	 –	 (439)	
Transfers and reclassifications	 7,513	 (8,059)	 (21)	 21	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (546)	
Depreciation charge	 (6,124)	 –	 (5,797)	 (1,091)	 (929)	 –	 (77)	 (55)	 (14,073)	
Depreciation released  
	 on disposals	 –	 –	 3	 5	 354	 –	 –	 –	 362	
Revaluation of generation  
	 plant	 –	 –	 78,015	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 78,015	
Closing net book amount	 163,698	 12,345	 147,640	 3,357	 3,976	 7,132	 2,717	 303	 341,168	

At 31 March 2014
Cost	 211,960	 12,345	 818	 9,905	 9,785	 7,132	 3,479	 439	 255,863	
Valuation	 –	 –	 146,822	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 146,822	
Accumulated depreciation	 (48,262)	 –	 –	 (6,548)	 (5,809)	 –	 (762)	 (136)	 (61,517)	
Net book amount	 163,698	 12,345	 147,640	 3,357	 3,976	 7,132	 2,717	 303	 341,168

16  :  Non-current assets – Property, plant and equipment
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	 	 Distribution	 Capital work	 Plant and	 Motor	 Freehold	 Freehold	 Leasehold 	
	 	 system	 in progress	 equipment	 vehicles	 land	 buildings	 buildings	T otal
PARENT	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

At 1 April 2012
Cost	 166,832	 10,294	 8,272	 9,440	 2,803	 2,990	 310	 200,941	
Accumulated depreciation	 (36,295)	 –	 (5,303)	 (4,696)	 –	 (613)	 (29)	 (46,936)	
Net book amount	 130,537	 10,294	 2,969	 4,744	 2,803	 2,377	 281	 154,005	

Year ended 31 March 2013
Opening net book amount	 130,537	 10,294	 2,969	 4,744	 2,803	 2,377	 281	 154,005	
Additions	 15,460	 12,456	 1,299	 633	 717	 13	 23	 30,601	
Disposals	 –	 –	 (1,525)	 (696)	 –	 –	 (65)	 (2,286)	
Transfers and reclassifications	 10,294	 (10,294)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	
Depreciation charge	 (5,843)	 –	 (918)	 (1,014)	 –	 (63)	 (47)	 (7,885)	
Depreciation released  
	 on disposals	 –	 –	 1,448	 539	 –	 –	 19	 2,006	
Closing net book amount	 150,448	 12,456	 3,273	 4,206	 3,520	 2,327	 211	 176,441	

At 31 March 2013
Cost	 192,586	 12,456	 8,046	 9,377	 3,520	 3,002	 267	 229,254	
Accumulated depreciation	 (42,138)	 –	 (4,773)	 (5,171)	 –	 (675)	 (56)	 (52,813)	
Net book amount	 150,448	 12,456	 3,273	 4,206	 3,520	 2,327	 211	 176,441

	 	 Distribution	 Capital work	 Plant and	 Motor	 Freehold	 Freehold	 Leasehold 	
	 	 system	 in progress	 equipment	 vehicles	 land	 buildings	 buildings	T otal
PARENT	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Year ended 31 March 2014
Opening net book amount	 150,448	 12,456	 3,273	 4,206	 3,520	 2,327	 211	 176,441	
Additions	 11,861	 6,638	 510	 577	 –	 –	 35	 19,621	
Disposals	 –	 –	 (15)	 (421)	 (1,792)	 –	 –	 (2,228)	
Transfers and reclassifications	 7,513	 (8,415)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (902)	
Depreciation charge	 (6,124)	 –	 (936)	 (899)	 –	 (65)	 (38)	 (8,062)	
Depreciation released  
	 on disposals	 –	 –	 4	 353	 –	 –	 –	 357	
Closing net book amount	 163,698	 10,679	 2,836	 3,816	 1,728	 2,262	 208	 185,227	

At 31 March 2014
Cost	 211,960	 10,679	 8,541	 9,533	 1,728	 3,002	 303	 245,746	
Accumulated depreciation	 (48,262)	 –	 (5,705)	 (5,717)	 –	 (740)	 (95)	 (60,519)	
Net book amount	 163,698	 10,679	 2,836	 3,816	 1,728	 2,262	 208	 185,227

(a) Depreciation charge included in result of discontinued activities
The totals shown above as depreciation charges for the year 
ended 31 March 2013 include $26,000 for the Group and the 
Parent charged on assets that were employed in activities 

that were subsequently discontinued.   There were no such 
amounts for the year ended 31 March 2014. 
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		  			   $’000

Recurring fair value measurements at 31 March 2014 using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)
Generation plant	 	 	 	 	 146,822	
						      146,822	

		  		  	Generation Plant
		  			   $’000

Carrying value under the cost basis at 31 March 2014	 	 	 	 	 68,807	
Net revaluation gain recognised in other comprehensive income	 	 	 	 78,015	
Closing balance at 31 March 2014					     146,822	

(b) Valuation of generation plant
An independent valuation of the G roup’s generation plant 
was performed by valuers to determine its fair value as at 31 
March 2014.  The revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred 
income taxes was credited to other comprehensive income and 
is shown in ‘reserves’ in shareholders equity (note 34). 

(d) Valuation processes of the Group
The Group has engaged external, independent and qualified 
valuers to determine the fair value of the group’s generation 
plant assets.   As at 31 M arch 2014, the fair values of the 
generation plant assets were determined by a specialist team 
within PricewaterhouseCoopers, Auckland. The external 
valuations of the generation plant have been performed using 
an approach based principally on predicted future cash flows.  

(c) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

There were no transfers into or out of level 3 during the 
year. The revaluation was made effective 31 M arch 2014.  

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers 
out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or 

In setting the expected useful lives of assets that comprise the 
Ngawha power station, it has been assumed that the necessary 
resource consents, which have a fixed life, will be renewed prior 
to their expiry.  As this is a non‑cash revaluation, it has been 
appropriately excluded from the cash flow statement.

The size and nature of the electricity generation plant is such 
that there have been no directly comparable disposals within 
New Zealand, consequently the valuations have been performed 
using unobservable inputs.  The external valuers have determined 
these inputs based on: historical and projected electricity 
output data; the projected wholesale electricity price path; and 
operating, maintenance and capital expenditure projections.

Consequently, there are no comparative figures to report.

change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

(e)  Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

	 Fair value			   Relationship of
	 at 31 March	 Valuation		  unobservable inputs
Description	 2014 ($’000)	 technique(s)	 Significant unobservable inputs	 to fair value	 	

Generation 	 146,822	 Discounted
plant	 	 cash flow

Projected wholesale price path (revenue) taking 
into consideration a three year electricity supply 
agreement, ASX prices and the Ministry of Economic 
Development 2011 Outlook.  Weighting has also been 
applied to the possibility of the Tiwai smelter closure.

Operating costs, taking into account management’s 
experience and knowledge of the asset’s condition 
and required maintenance plans.

Capital expenditure, taking into account 
management’s experience and knowledge of the 
asset’s condition.

Weighted average cost of capital (WACC), 
determined using a Capital Asset Pricing Model  
of 8.5%

Terminal growth rate

The higher the revenue, 
the higher the fair value

The higher the operating 
costs, the lower the fair 
value

The higher the capital 
expenditure, the lower 
the fair value

The higher the weighted 
average cost of capital, 
the lower the fair value

The higher the terminal 
growth rate, the higher 
the fair value	
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Sensitivities
The valuation is most sensitive with a change in revenue 
driven by a change in the wholesale price path.   A 10% 
movement in revenue changes the mid-point valuation by 
approximately 17% (average). The valuation is moderately 
sensitive to movements in WACC and operating costs.  The 
average impact on the mid‑point valuation of a movement 
in WACC of 0.5% and a movement of 10% in operating 

(f) Capitalised borrowing costs
Capital work in progress during the periods reported above 
comprises capital projects undertaken by the Network 
division of Top Energy Ltd which have an expected cost in 
excess of $500,000 and a planned duration of longer than 
three months.   Interest on borrowings raised to finance 
capital projects has been capitalised.  

(b) Valuation basis
The investment properties were valued as at 30 September 
2013 by Telfer Young, registered valuers and associates of the 
New Zealand Institute of Valuers, at a total value of $665,000.   
The valuers have recent experience in the location and category 
of the investment being valued.   The basis of the valuation 

(c) Leasing arrangements
The investment properties comprise three dwellings that are 
situated on Grazing North Ltd’s land and which were formerly 
agricultural dwellings.  These properties are let for residential 
purposes on open tenancies whereby the landlord can give 90 
days’ notice of termination to the tenants and the tenants can 

costs is 8% and 6% respectively.  The valuation is relatively 
insensitive to movements in terminal growth rate and capital 
expenditure.  The average impact on the mid‑point valuation 
of a movement in terminal growth rate of 0.5% and capital 
expenditure of 10% is 5% and 2% respectively.  This highlights 
the low‑cost nature of the geothermal generation assets.  

The amount capitalised by the Group during the year ended 
31 M arch 2014 was $496,000 (2013: $244,000).   Interest 
capitalised was at the average rate of 3.7% for the year ended 
31 March 2014 (2013: 4.2%).

of investment properties is fair value, being the amounts for 
which the properties could be exchanged between willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction, based on current prices 
in an active market for similar properties in the same location 
and condition and subject to similar leases. 

give 30 days’ notice of vacation to the landlord.  At balance 
date two of the three properties were tenanted.  

The rentals charged are at market rate and are payable weekly. 

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

At fair value
Opening balance at 1 April		  –	 –	 –	 –	
Acquisitions	 	 637	 –	 –	 –	
Net gain (loss) from fair value adjustment		  28	 –	 –	 –	
Closing balance at 31 March		  665	 –	 –	 –

17  :  Non-current assets – Investment properties

(a) Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment properties

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Rental income	 	 27	 -	 -	 -	
Direct operating expenses from property that  
	 generated rental income	 	 (20)	 -	 -	 -	
Net surplus		  7	-	-	-	  
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				    Computer	 Customer  
			   Goodwill	 software	 intangible	 Easements	 Total	  
Consolidated	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	  $’000

At 1 April 2012
Cost	 	 764	 2,566	 57	 458	 3,845	
Accumulated amortisation and impairment	 	 –	 (2,118)	 (56)	 –	 (2,174)	
Net book amount		  764	 448	 1	 458	 1,671	

Year ended 31 March 2013
Opening net book amount	 	 764	 448	 1	 458	 1,671	
Additions	 	 –	 1,845	 –	 1,001	 2,846	
Disposals	 	 (80)	 (102)	 (57)	 –	 (239)	
Impairment charge		  (80)	 –	 –	 –	 (80)	
Amortisation charge	 	 –	 (522)	 (1)	 –	 (523)	
Amortisation released on disposals	 	 –	 99	 57	 –	 156	
Impairment eliminated on disposal		  80	 –	 –	 –	 80	
Closing net book amount		  684	 1,768	 –	 1,459	 3,911	

At 31 March 2013
Cost	 	 684	 4,309	 –	 1,459	 6,452	
Accumulated amortisation and impairment	 	 –	 (2,541)	 –	 –	 (2,541)	
Net book amount		  684	 1,768	 –	 1,459	 3,911	

Year ended 31 March 2014
Opening net book amount	 	 684	 1,768	 –	 1,459	 3,911	
Additions	 	 127	 217	 –	 368	 712	
Transfers and reclassifications	 	 –	 –	 –	 168	 168	
Amortisation charge 	 	 –	 (791)	 –	 –	 (791)	
Closing net book amount		  811	 1,194	 –	 1,995	 4,000	

At 31 March 2014
Cost	 	 811	 4,526	 –	 1,995	 7,332	
Accumulated amortisation and impairment	 	 –	 (3,332)	 –	 –	 (3,332)	
Net book amount		  811	 1,194	 –	 1,995	 4,000	

18  :  Non-current assets – Intangible assets
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				    Computer	 Customer  
			   Goodwill	 software	 intangible	 Easements	 Total	  
PARENT	 	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	  $’000

At 1 April 2012
Cost	 	 80	 2,208	 57	 458	 2,803	
Accumulated amortisation and impairment	 	 –	 (1,773)	 (56)	 –	 (1,829)	
Net book amount		  80	 435	 1	 458	 974	

Year ended 31 March 2013
Opening net book amount	 	 80	 435	 1	 458	 974	
Additions	 	 –	 1,792	 –	 1,001	 2,793	
Disposals	 	 (80)	 (24)	 (57)	 –	 (161)	
Impairment charge		  (80)	 –	 –	 –	 (80)	
Amortisation charge	 	 –	 (511)	 (1)	 –	 (512)	
Amortisation released on disposals (note 6)	 	 –	 22	 57	 –	 79	
Impairment eliminated on disposal		  80	 –	 –	 –	 80	
Closing net book amount		  –	 1,714	 –	 1,459	 3,173	

At 31 March 2013
Cost	 	 –	 3,976	 –	 1,459	 5,435	
Accumulated amortisation and impairment	 	 –	 (2,262)	 –	 –	 (2,262)	
Net book amount		  –	 1,714	 –	 1,459	 3,173	

Year ended 31 March 2014
Opening net book amount	 	 –	 1,714	 –	 1,459	 3,173	
Additions	 	 –	 186	 –	 368	 554	
Transfers and reclassifications	 	 –	 –	 –	 168	 168	
Amortisation charge	 	 –	 (765)	 –	 –	 (765)	
Closing net book amount		  –	 1,135	 –	 1,995	 3,130	

At 31 March 2014
Cost	 	 –	 4,162	 –	 1,995	 6,157	
Accumulated amortisation and impairment	 	 –	 (3,027)	 –	 –	 (3,027)	
Net book amount		  –	 1,135	 –	 1,995	 3,130	

(a)  Allocation of goodwill between cash-generating units
Goodwill is allocated to the following of the Group’s cash‑generating units:

	 Ngawha	 Top Electrical	 Ngawha	 Ngawha	  
	 Geothermal	 division of	 Generation	 Properties	
	 Resource Co Ltd	 Top Energy Ltd	 Ltd	 Ltd	 Total	
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	

At 31 March 2014
Cost at 1 April 2013	 –	 –	 684	 –	 684	
Additions	 –	 –	 –	 127	 127	
Transfer on amalgamation	 –	 –	 127	 (127)	 –	
At 31 March 2014	 –	 –	 811	 –	 811	

At 31 March 2013
Cost at 1 April 2012	 684	 80	 –	 –	 764	
Impairment charge in the year	 –	 (80)	 –	 –	 (80)	
Disposal of Top Electrical division	 –	 (80)	 –	 –	 (80)	
Impairment eliminated on disposal	 –	 80	 –	 –	 80	
Transfer on amalgamation	 (684)	 –	 684	 –	 –	
At 31 March 2013	 –	 –	 684	 –	 684
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On 31 October 2012 the business of the Top Electrical division 
of Top Energy Ltd was disposed of.  The directors had previously 
determined that the goodwill allocated to that division was not 
recoverable and consequently an impairment charge was made 
to reduce its carrying value to nil effective 30 September 2012.

On 31 March 2013 Ngawha Geothermal Resource Co Ltd was 
amalgamated into Ngawha G eneration Ltd.   Consequently 
the goodwill originally allocated to Ngawha Geothermal 

At 31 March 2014 the Group’s biological assets comprised a 
dairy herd of 369 head with an estimated market value less 
costs to sell of $446,000 and 68 hectares of forestry plantation 
with an estimated market value of $492,000.

The fair value less estimated costs to sell of the dairy herd 
has been determined in accordance with an independent 
valuation performed at 31 March 2014 by PGG Wrightson Ltd.  

The fair value less estimated costs to sell of the bulk (62 
hectares) of the forestry plantation has been determined 
in accordance with an independent valuation performed 

Resource Co Ltd has been transferred to Ngawha Generation 
Ltd, as shown above.

Goodwill has arisen on 30 November 2013 from the purchase 
by Top Energy Ltd of the balance of the shares in Ngawha 
Properties Ltd that Top Energy Ltd did not already own.  O n 
31 March 2014 Ngawha Properties Ltd was amalgamated into 
Ngawha Generation Ltd.  Consequently the goodwill originally 
allocated to Ngawha P roperties Ltd has been transferred to 
Ngawha Generation Ltd, as shown above.

at 30 September 2013 by Crighton Anderson P roperty & 
Infrastructure Ltd.  

The directors consider that the value has not materially 
changed in the period between the valuation and balance 
date.  The balance of 6 hectares was acquired during the 
year and is included at cost on the basis that this equated to 
market value at the time of acquisition and has not materially 
changed subsequently.  

Both valuers are specialists in their respective fields and have 
extensive experience of valuing the relevant classes of assets. 

(b) Impairment testing of goodwill
As described in Note 2(p), goodwill is tested at least annually 
for impairment.  An impairment arises where the goodwill’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

The goodwill recoverable amounts are based on value‑in‑use 
calculations.   Those calculations use cash flow and profit 
projections based on budgets approved by management to 

31 March 2020, and a pre‑tax discount rate of 8.5% (2013: 
10%).  At 31 March 2014 and 2013 the calculations support the 
carrying amounts of recorded goodwill.  Management believes 
that any reasonable change in the key assumptions used in the 
calculations would not cause the current carrying amount to 
exceed its recoverable amount.  

(a) Financial risk management strategies
The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from changes in 
the price of milk.  The Group relies on the financial strength 
and global market position of Fonterra to minimise the risks of 
price fluctuations and other adverse market movements.  

The G roup and P arent are also exposed to financial risks 
arising from changes in the price of timber.  The Group does 

not anticipate that timber prices will decline significantly in 
the foreseeable future and, therefore, has not entered into 
derivative or other contracts to manage the risk of such a 
decline.   The limited extent of the tree plantations and the 
non‑core nature of this activity allow the Group to wait for 
suitable market conditions before arranging for felling and sale 
of the timber.  

19  :  Non‑current assets – Biological assets
Through its subsidiary Grazing North Ltd, the Group 
commenced running a dairy farming operation in May 2013.  
There is also an area of growing timber on the farm’s land.

The Parent has also owned an area of forestry for many years.

Movements in these assets are as follows:

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Carrying amount at 1 April	 	 457	 457	 457	 457	
Purchases	 	 434	 –	 –	 –	
Gain / (loss) arising from changes in fair value  
	 less estimated costs to sell	 	 47	 –	 –	 –	
Carrying amount at 31 March		  938	 457	 457	 457	
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Non‑current assets
Interest rate swaps ‑ at fair value through profit  
	 or loss ‑ see below (a)(ii)	 	 505	 –	 505	 –	
Total derivative financial instrument assets	 	 505	 –	 505	 –	

Current liabilities
Forward foreign exchange contracts ‑ at fair value  
	 through profit or loss ‑ see below (a)(i)	 	 61	 –	 61	 –	
Interest rate swaps ‑ at fair value through profit  
	 or loss ‑ see below (a)(ii)	 	 1,911	 1,827	 1,911	 1,827	
Total current derivative financial instrument liabilities	 	 1,972	 1,827	 1,972	 1,827	

Non‑current liabilities
Interest rate swaps ‑ at fair value through profit  
	 or loss ‑ see below (a)(ii)	 	 1,933	 8,187	 1,933	 8,187	
Total non‑current derivative financial instrument  
	 liabilities	 	 1,933	 8,187	 1,933	 8,187	
Total derivative financial instrument liabilities	 	 3,905	 10,014	 3,905	 10,014	

Net (liabilities) in relation to derivative financial  
	 instruments		  (3,400)	 (10,014)	 (3,400)	 (10,014)

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

At 1 April		  –	 –	 –	 –	
Additions	 	 513	 –	 –	 –	
Net gains / (losses) transferred to equity	 	 (114)	 –	 –	 –	
At 31 March		  399	 –	 –	 –

20  :  Non‑current assets – Available‑for‑sale financial assets

The available‑for‑sale financial assets comprise 66,000 shares 
in F onterra Co‑operative G roup Ltd (“Fonterra”).  F  onterra’s 
shares are quoted on the New Zealand stock exchange.  The 
shares were purchased at their quoted market value from 
the vendor of the dairy farm in May 2013.  It is a requirement 
of the supply contract with Fonterra that the supplier holds 
sufficient F onterra shares in order to be able to supply the 
contracted volume of milk.  

The shares are carried at fair value.  In this context, fair value 
means the quoted market price at balance date.  Gains or 
losses resulting from changes in fair value are included in 
other comprehensive income.  

The maximum exposure to market risk at the reporting date 
is the carrying value of the securities classified as available 
for sale.

21  :  Derivative financial instruments

For further information refer to note 2(h)
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Related party receivables	 	 –	 –	 41,695	 44,100	
			   –	 –	 41,695	 44,100

The above balances relate to the non‑current portion of 
the inter‑company loan made by Top Energy Ltd to Ngawha 
Generation Ltd.

22  :  Non‑current assets – Receivables

(a) Instruments used by the Group and the Parent 
(i) Forward foreign exchange contracts
During the year ended 31 M arch 2014, Top Energy Ltd 
entered into a series of forward foreign exchange contracts 
denominated in US dollars in respect of equipment required 
for the Ngawha power station.  The original principal amount 
was US$988,225 which, at the committed contract exchange 
rates, equated to NZ$1,225,861. 

When translated at the closing spot rate on 31 March 2014, the 
NZ dollar equivalent of the remaining US dollar commitment 
(US$792,225) was NZ$914,936.   The difference arising from 
exchange rate movements, which has been adjusted for 
the credit risk arising in the Group from these transactions, 
is included in ‘fair value gains and losses on financial 
assets’ in the profit or loss component of the statement of 
comprehensive income.  These contracts are subject to the 
same risk management policies as all other derivative contracts.  
See note 3 for details.

The final forward foreign exchange contract in the above series 
is due to mature on 21 December 2014.

(b) Credit risk exposures 
Credit risk arises from the potential failure of counterparties 
to meet their obligations under the respective contracts at 
maturity.  This arises on derivative financial instruments with 

The Group did not enter into any forward foreign exchange 
contracts during the year ended 31 March 2013.  

(ii) Interest rate swaps
The Parent has entered into interest rate swap contracts 
under which it receives interest at variable rates and pays 
interest at fixed rates in respect of the notional principal 
amount of each contract.   At 31 March 2014 the notional 
principal amount of current contracts totalled $129,000,000 
(31 M arch 2013: $129,000,000).   At 31 M arch 2014 the 
Parent had not committed to enter into any further contracts 
to replace maturing contracts.  At 31 March 2013 the Parent 
had committed to enter into two contracts, with a total 
notional principal value of $10,000,000, to replace maturing 
contracts.  

The contracts require settlement of net interest receivable or 
payable each 90 days.  The settlement dates coincide with the 
dates on which interest is payable on the underlying debt.  The 
contracts are settled on a net basis.

unrealised gains.  Details of the Group’s exposure to credit risk 
are given at note 3(b).
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

The balance comprises temporary differences  
attributable to:
Doubtful debts	 	 4	 17	 –	 –	
Employee benefits	 	 16	 11	 –	 –	
Non‑deductible provisions	 	 9	 7	 –	 –	
Fixed assets	 	 7	 2	 –	 –	
Total deferred tax assets		  36	 37	 –	 –	

Movements
Balance at 1 April	 	 37	 37	 –	 –	
Credited / (charged) to the income statement		  (1)	 –	 –	 –	
Balance at 31 March	 	 36	 37	 –	 –	

Expected settlement
Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months		 29	 35	 –	 –	
Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more  
	 than 12 months	 	 7	 2	 –	 –	 	
			   36	 37	 –	 –	

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Trade payables	 	 3,256	 4,802	 2,762	 4,437	
GST payable	 	 322	 24	 322	 24	
ACC levies, PAYE and other payroll taxes	 	 316	 321	 278	 286	
Payroll creditors	 	 970	 993	 831	 902	
Accruals	 	 1,779	 1,963	 1,639	 1,480	
			   6,643	 8,103	 5,832	 7,129

23  :  Non‑current assets – Deferred tax assets

24  :  Current liabilities – Payables

(a) Foreign currency risk
The carrying amounts of the Company’s and the Group’s trade 
and other payables are denominated wholly in New Zealand 

dollars at both balance dates.  Consequently, the Company 
and the Group bear no foreign currency risk in this regard. 
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Unsecured
Related party payables		  –	 –	 251	 203	
			   –	 –	 251	 203	

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Income tax payable	 	 682	 446	 391	 –	
			   682	 446	 391	 –	

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Employee benefits	 	 315	 421	 315	 421	
			   315	 421	 315	 421

25  :  Current liabilities – Interest-bearing liabilities

26  :  Current liabilities – Non‑interest-bearing liabilities

27  :  Current liabilities – Current tax liabilities

28  :  Current liabilities – Provisions

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Bank overdrafts	 	 156	 53	 141	 48	
Total interest bearing bank borrowings		  156	 53	 141	 48	

Loan from parent entity	 	 1,558	 1,528	 1,558	 1,528	
Total other interest bearing borrowings		  1,558	 1,528	 1,558	 1,528	

Total current interest bearing borrowings		  1,714	 1,581	 1,699	 1,576	

The bank loans and overdraft of the parent entity and some 
subsidiaries are subject to a negative pledge in favour of the 

The provision for employee benefits relates to entitlements 
to retirement gratuity payments.   The provision has been 
calculated as the present value of expected future payments 
to be made in respect of services provided by eligible 
employees up to the reporting date.  The total provision has 
been allocated between amounts due within 12 months (as 

Bank of New Zealand Ltd.  See note 29 for further details.

above) and amounts due after 12 months (see note 30).  The 
current portion of the provision represents the full entitlement 
of all employees who have reached the age of 50 by the 
balance date, and has been calculated by reference to those 
employees’ current wage and salary levels.
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Bank overdrafts and bank loans	 	 133,591	 127,803	 133,576	 127,798	
Total liabilities covered by the negative pledge		  133,591	 127,803	 133,576	 127,798

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Employee benefits	 	 127	 129	 127	 129	
			   127	 129	 127	 129

29  :  Non-current liabilities – Interest-bearing liabilities

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Bank loans	 	 133,435	 127,750	 133,435	 127,750	
Total non‑current interest bearing liabilities		  133,435	 127,750	 133,435	 127,750	

Total liabilities (both current and non‑current) in respect of 
which a negative pledge has been given to the Group’s bank 

by all Group companies except for Ngawha Properties Ltd are 
as follows:

(a) Liabilities subject to a negative pledge given over assets

(b) Banking covenants
The bank loans and overdraft are subject to a negative pledge 
that imposes certain covenants on a Guaranteeing Group.  
The Guaranteeing Group comprises all Group companies as at 
31 March 2014.  The negative pledge states that (subject to 
certain exceptions) the Guaranteeing Group will not provide 
any other security over its assets, and will ensure that the 
following financial ratios are met:
(i)	 debt will not exceed 60% of the aggregate of the total debt 

plus shareholders’ funds of the Group; and
(ii)	 borrowing costs will not exceed 33.33% of G roup 

earnings before borrowing costs, taxation, depreciation 
and amortisation, and unrealised gains or losses from 
foreign exchange, interest swaps, futures and options 
(EBITDAF); and

(iii)	T otal tangible assets of the Guaranteeing Group will not be 
less than 90% of the total tangible assets of the Group.

None of the above covenants was breached during the year.

Effective 1 April 2014, the borrowing costs ratio referred to 
above has been relaxed from 33.33% to 40%.

30  :  Non-current liabilities – Provisions

The provision for employee benefits relates to entitlements 
to retirement gratuity payments.   The provision has been 
calculated as the present value of expected future payments to 
be made in respect of services provided by eligible employees 
up to the reporting date.   The total provision has been 
allocated between amounts due within 12 months (see note 
28) and amounts due after 12 months (as above).   In setting 

the assumptions necessary to calculate the element of the 
provision due after 12 months from balance date, consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience 
of employee departures and periods of service.  The totals of 
expected future payments are discounted to present value 
using the rate on New Zealand government bonds.
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

The balance comprises temporary differences  
attributable to:
Property, plant and equipment	 	 47,372	 25,645	 19,219	 19,430	
Intangible assets	 	 54	 8	 55	 10	
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	 	 (952)	 (2,803)	 (952)	 (2,803)	
Other temporary differences	 	 (431)	 (477)	 (818)	 (843)	
Net deferred tax liabilities		  46,043	 22,373	 17,504	 15,794	

Movements
Balance at 1 April	 	 22,373	 22,331	 15,794	 15,930	
Charged / (credited) to profit or loss	 	 1,826	 42	 1,710	 (136)	
Tax charged/(credited) directly to equity (note 9)	 	 21,844	 –	 –	 –	

Balance at 31 March		  46,043	 22,373	 17,504	 15,794	
Expected maturity of deferred tax liabilities
Within 12 months	 	 (831)	 (989)	 (1,217)	 (1,354)	
In excess of 12 months	 	 46,874	 23,362	 18,721	 17,148	
			   46,043	 22,373	 17,504	 15,794

	 	T op Energy Electrical 
	 GROUP	 Business Imputation Group

		  2013	 2012	 2013	 2012
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Balances
Imputation credits available for subsequent reporting  
	 periods based on a tax rate of 28% (2013: 28%) 	 	 2,381	 790	 392	 –	

32  :  Imputation credits

As from 1 April 2008 Top Energy Ltd and two of its subsidiaries 
formed an imputation group which was named the Top Energy 
Electrical Business Imputation Group.  This group was created 
to utilise imputation credits held in the two subsidiaries.  One 
of the subsidiaries has subsequently been sold.  

The balance of the Imputation Group’s credits belongs to all 
members of the group jointly, so cannot be allocated in their 
individual financial statements.

The above amounts represent the balance of the imputation 
account as at the end of the reporting period, adjusted for: 
a)	 Imputation credits that will arise from the payment of the 

amount of the provision for income tax; 
b)	 Imputation debits that will arise from the payment of 

dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date; and 
c)	 Imputation credits that will arise from the receipt of 

dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date. 

31  :  Non-current liabilities – Deferred tax liabilities
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		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
Consolidated and PARENT		  Shares	 Shares	 $’000	 $’000	

Ordinary shares 
–	 Authorised, issued and fully paid	 	 25,000,000	 25,000,000	 25,267	 25,267	
Total contributed equity				    25,267	 25,267	

					     Consolidated

		  	 	 2014	 2013
				    $’000	 $’000

Total borrowings	 	 	 	 136,144	 130,301	
Less: cash and cash equivalents (note 11)				    (5)	 (62)	
Net debt				    136,139	 130,239	

Total equity				    163,963	 96,939	
Exclude: derivatives at valuation	 	 	 	 3,400	 10,014	
Exclude: available‑for‑sale financial assets valuation movement	 	 	 114	 –	
Total capital				    303,616	 237,192	

Gearing ratio				    44.8%	 54.9%

33  :  Contributed equity
(a) Share capital	

(b) Ordinary shares
The entire share capital of Top Energy Ltd is held by R obin 
Shepherd on behalf of the Trustees of the Top Energy 

(c) Capital risk management
The G roup’s and the P arent entity’s objectives when 
managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as 
a going concern, in order to continue to provide returns for 
shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 
minimise the Group’s cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, Top Energy 
Ltd may adjust the amount of dividends paid to its shareholder, 
may return capital to the shareholder, and may sell assets to 
reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.  
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.

The decrease in the gearing ratio at 31 March 2014 compared 
to the previous year is the result of the revaluation of the 
Group’s generation plant.   If the effect of the revaluation 

Consumer Trust, for the benefit of those electricity customers 
who are connected to the Company’s distribution network.

•	 Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including 
‘borrowings’ and ‘trade and other payables’ as shown in the 
statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. 

•	 Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the 
statement of financial position (excluding minority interest) 
plus net debt.   Total capital excludes the valuation of 
derivatives at balance date.

During the years ended 31 March 2014 and 2013 the Group’s 
strategy was to maintain a gearing ratio of less than 60%.  
The gearing ratios at 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2013 were 
as follows:

were excluded for the purposes of the calculation, the 
gearing ratio for 2014 would have been reported as 55.0%.
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve	 	 56,171	 –	 –	 –	
Available‑for‑sale investments revaluation reserve	 	 (114)	 –	 –	 –	
			   56,057	 –	 –	 –	
Movements: 
Property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve
Balance at 1 April		  –	 –	 –	 –	
Revaluation ‑ gross surplus	 	 78,015	 –	 –	 –	
Deferred tax arising on revaluation	 	 (21,844)	 –	 –	 –	
Balance at 31 March		  56,171	 –	 –	 –	

Available‑for‑sale investments revaluation reserve
Balance at 1 April		  –	 –	 –	 –	
Fair value gains / (losses) in year	 	 (114)	 –	 –	 –	
Balance at 31 March		  (114)	 –	 –	 –	

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Balance at 1 April 	 	 71,672	 65,471	 61,137	 55,080	
Net profit for the year	 	 11,051	 6,276	 7,478	 6,132	
Dividends	 	 (85)	 (75)	 (85)	 (75)	
Equity adjustment on acquisition of subsidiary	 	 –	 –	 100	 –	
Balance at 31 March		  82,638	 71,672	 68,630	 61,137	

34  :  Reserves and retained earnings
(a) Reserves

(b) Retained earnings
Movements in retained earnings were as follows:
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Dividend of 0.34 cents per ordinary share paid  
	 on 28 March 2014	 	 85	 –	 85	 –	
Dividend of 0.3 cents per ordinary share paid  
	 on 27 March 2013	 	 –	 75	 –	 75	
Total dividends provided for or paid		  85	 75	 85	 75	

					     Consolidated

		  	 	 2014	 2013
				    $’000	 $’000

Interest in:
Share capital				    100	 100	
Retained profits	 	 	 	 73	 62	
Purchase of non‑controlling interest by Top Energy Ltd	 	 	 (173)	 –	
					     –	 162	

Movements in the non‑controlling interest were as follows:
Balance at 1 April				    162	 161	
Minority’s interest in the profits of Ngawha Properties Limited	 	 	 11	 1	
Purchase of non‑controlling interest by Top Energy Ltd 	 	 	 (173)	 –	
Balance at 31 March				    –	 162	

36  :  Dividends
(a) Ordinary shares

35  :  Non‑controlling interest

(b) Dividend imputation
The dividends paid by Top Energy Ltd on 28 March 2014 and 
27 March 2013 were not imputed.

 

The non‑controlling interest comprised an 11.1% 
shareholding in Ngawha P roperties Ltd that has been held 
by a non‑related third party.  Top Energy Ltd purchased this 
interest from the third party effective 30 November 2013, 
whereupon Ngawha Properties Ltd became a wholly‑owned 

subsidiary of Top Energy Ltd.  The profit reported above for 
2014 as attributable to the non‑controlling interest relates 
to the period from 1 April 2013 until 30 November 2013, 
in accordance with the accounting treatment set out in 
note2(b)(i).
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	 	 	 	 	 PRIMARY	 	 POST-EMPLOYMENT

					     Non-
			   Cash salary	 Cash	 monetary 	 Super-	 Retirement	  	
	 		  and fees	 bonus	 benefits	 annuation	 benefits	 Options	 Total
			   $	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $

2014					   
P Byrnes	 	 77,700	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 77,700	
A Kelleher	 	 47,125	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 47,125	
R Krogh 	 	 41,375	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 41,375	
M Simm	 	 49,263	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 49,263	
G Steed	 	 41,375	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 41,375	
P White	 	 41,375	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 41,375	
Total		  298,213	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 298,213	

2013					   
P Byrnes		  69,550	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 69,550	
A Kelleher	 	 42,562	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 42,562	
R Krogh (appointed 1.3.2013)	 	 3,167	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 3,167	
M Simm	 	 44,062	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 44,062	
G Steed	 	 37,000	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 37,000	
P White	 	 37,000	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 37,000	
P White‑Robinson (resigned 29.5.2012)	 5,667	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 5,667	
Total		  239,008	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 239,008

37  :  Director disclosures
The following persons were directors of the Top Energy Limited 
Group during the financial year ended 31 March 2014:

(i)	 Chairman ‑ non‑executive
Mr Paul Byrnes

(ii)	 Other non‑executive directors
Mr Michael Simm (Deputy Chairman)
Mr Andrew Kelleher 
Mr Richard Krogh 
Mr Gregory Steed 
Mr Paul White 

Dr Robert Kirkpatrick served as the independent director of 
Ngawha Generation Limited throughout the years ended 31 
March 2013 and 2014.

Sir Graham Latimer served as a director of Ngawha Properties 
Ltd until his resignation on 4 February 2014.

Mr R ihari Dargaville has acted as alternate director for Sir 
Graham Latimer since 13 February 2013.  In accordance with 
the Constitution of Ngawha Properties Ltd, the resignation of 
Sir Graham Latimer automatically terminated Mr Dargaville’s 
appointment as his alternate.

Mr R ussell Shaw and M r Steven James were appointed as 
directors of Grazing North Ltd on 20 May 2013.

Mr Andrew Kelleher resigned as a director of Top Energy 
Ltd, Ngawha Generation Ltd and Phone Plus 2000 Ltd on 30 
April 2014. 

In addition to the remuneration detailed above, the following 
amounts were paid to the directors of other Group companies.

Dr Robert Kirkpatrick received fees of $41,375 in his capacity 
as Independent Director for Ngawha Generation Ltd for the 
year ended 31 March 2014 (2013: $37,000).

Sir Graham Latimer received fees of $4,583 in respect of his 
directorship of Ngawha Properties Ltd for the period ended 4 
February 2014 (year to 31 March 2013: $5,000).

Mr Russell Shaw and Mr Steven James were not remunerated 
in respect of their directorships of Grazing North Ltd.  Both 
are employed by Top Energy Ltd and are remunerated by that 
company. 

(a) Details of the remuneration of each director of Top Energy Limited are set out in the following tables.
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(b) Directors’ interests in other entities
The following directors of Top Energy Ltd have provided 
particulars of declared interests in the following entities during 
the accounting period.  The declaration serves as notice that 
the Director may benefit from any transactions between the 
Company and the identified entity.

P A Byrnes
–	 Appointed as a director of DFL ‑ HRV Ltd
–	A ppointed as a director of Dorchester Oxford Ltd
–	 Appointed as a director of Payment Management Services Ltd
–	 Appointed as a director of Turners Auctions Ltd and 

subsidiaries

M W Simm
–	A ppointed as Chairman of BNZ Partners Northland
–	 Appointed as Chairman of the Waitangi National Trust 

Board of Management

G M Steed
–	R esigned as Chairman of the NZ Shippers Council

A M Kelleher
–	A ppointed as a director of Wharekapua Ltd

P I White
–	 Appointed as Chairman of the Ngai Tupoto ki Motukaraka 

Ahuwhenua Trust
–	A ppointed as a director of TRTTK Ltd.
–	R esigned as a member of FITEC

The G roup has had a business relationship with Turners 
Auctions Ltd for a number of years.  This has not been affected 
by the appointment of Mr P Byrnes as a director of that group 
of companies.

Mr A Kelleher, Mr M Simm and Mr P White, directors of Top 
Energy Ltd, Sir G raham Latimer, former director of Ngawha 
Properties Ltd, Mr S James and Mr R Shaw, directors of Grazing 
North Ltd, and all of the Group’s key management personnel 
are connected to Top Energy Ltd’s electricity distribution 

network and therefore are beneficiaries of the Top Energy 
Consumer Trust, the parent entity of Top Energy Ltd.  

Details of key management personnel compensation are given 
at note 40.

(c) Beneficiary interests in the Top Energy Consumer Trust

38  :  Contingencies
As at 31 March 2013 and 2014, a Guaranteeing Group had 
executed a deed of pledge in favour of the Bank of New 
Zealand Ltd.  The Guaranteeing Group comprises all Group 
companies except for Ngawha Properties Ltd.   The deed of 
pledge prohibits each company within the Guaranteeing 
Group from giving security over its assets to a third party in 
preference to the Bank of New Zealand Ltd.

Following the amalgamation of Ngawha P roperties Ltd 
on 31 M arch 2014, the G uaranteeing G roup comprises all 
companies within the Top Energy Group.

The Group has provided performance bonds and guarantee 
bonds to unrelated third parties in respect of the costs of 
existing and potential future obligations arising from its 
business activities.  It has also received bonds from unrelated 
third parties in respect of the amounts of retention monies and 
potential remedial costs arising from any non‑performance by 
those third parties of their obligations.  

At 31 March 2014 the total value of contingent obligations 
entered into by the Group was $600,000 (2013: $660,000) 
and the total value of contingent receivables from third 
parties was $528,000 (2013: $333,000).

Contingencies no longer current
As an element of the disposal of Top Electrical, Top Energy Ltd 
assigned the lease on the division’s business premises with 
effect from 31 October 2012.  In the event that the assignee 
of the lease failed to meet the rental commitments over the 
remaining period of the lease, Top Energy Ltd had undertaken 
to make good the shortfall.  The lease expired on 14 April 2014 
at which time the contingency ceased.  At 31 March 2013, Top 
Energy Ltd’s maximum contingent liability was $24,140.  
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Property, plant and equipment	 	 3,373	 4,221	 1,690	 4,221	
			   3,373	 4,221	 1,690	 4,221

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Within one year	 	 633	 633	 447	 507	
Later than one year but not later than five years	 	 2,201	 1,777	 1,549	 1,609	
Later than five years	 	 1,746	 1,040	 651	 1,040	
			   4,580	 3,450	 2,647	 3,156

39  :  Commitments
(a)  Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet incurred is as follows:

(b)  Operating leases
The Top Energy Group has operating lease commitments for 
property and office equipment rentals.  Operating leases held 
over properties give the Group the right to renew the lease 

subject to a redetermination of the lease rental by the lessor. 
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to 
non‑cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

There were no contracts for share‑based payments during the years ended 31 March 2014 and 2013.

40  :  Related party transactions
(a) Parent entity
Top Energy Ltd is wholly owned by the Top Energy Consumer 
Trust (“the Trust”).  During the year, Top Energy Ltd processed 
transactions on an agency basis on behalf of the Trust in order 
to settle the latter’s routine business dealings.  

The Company paid a dividend of $85,000 to the Trust during 
the year ended 31 M arch 2014 (2013: $75,000).   These 
dividends were to assist with the Trust’s running costs.  The 
Company continued to pay interest to the Trust on the balance 

of funds loaned, totalling $56,000 in the year ended 31 March 
2014 (2013: $64,000).  

As at 31 March 2014, a balance of $1,558,000 was owed by 
the Company to the Trust (31 March 2013: $1,528,000) and 
this has been included in current liabilities in the statement of 
financial position.  All transactions between the Company and 
the Trust are made on normal business terms.  

		  Short-term	 Post-employ-	 Other long-	 Termination	
		  benefits	 ment benefits	 term benefits	 benefits	 Total
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Year ended 31 March 2014	 3,657	 33	 35	 19	 3,744
Year ended 31 March 2013	 4,025	 46	 28	 –	 4,099

(b) Directors
The names of persons who were directors of the company at 
any time during the financial year are given at note 37.

(c) Key management personnel remuneration
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During the year ended 31 March 2014 the Group purchased 
communications consultancy services from Angela Shaw 
Communications to the value of $12,800 (2013: $13,995).  
Angela Shaw Communications is the business vehicle of Mrs 
Angela Shaw, who is a related party to the Group’s CEO, Mr 

Russell Shaw. There were no other transactions with key 
management personnel or entities related to them, other 
than the payment of remuneration, during the year ended 
31 March 2014 (2013: none).

(e) Subsidiaries
The Group’s interests in its subsidiaries are set out in note 42. All 
transactions between the Parent and its subsidiaries are made 
on normal business terms and have been included in receivables 

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Grazing North Ltd 
–  Vegetation services supplied by Top Energy Ltd	 	 –	 –	 4	 –	
–  Operating cost from Top Energy Ltd	 	 –	 –	 50	 –	

Ngawha Generation Ltd
–  Cost of funding	 	 –	 –	 3,788	 4,027	
–  Injection charges	 	 –	 –	 128	 352	
–  Ngawha Connection Agreement charges	 	 –	 –	 73	 123	
–  Operating cost from Top Energy Ltd 	 	 –	 –	 1,270	 1,361	
–  Rent charge from Top Energy Ltd		  –	 –	 –	 8	
–  Capacity charges to Top Energy Ltd	 	 –	 –	 (2,295)	 (2,317)	
–  Dividend to Top Energy Ltd		  –	 –	 –	 1,950	

Ngawha Geothermal Resource Co Ltd
–  Cost of funding	 	 –	 –	 –	 408	
–  Operating cost from Top Energy Ltd	 	 –	 –	 –	 324	
–  Dividend to Top Energy Ltd		  –	 –	 –	 550	

Phone Plus 2000 Ltd 
–  Operating cost to Top Energy Ltd	 	 –	 –	 (109)	 (96)	
–  Operating cost from Top Energy Ltd	 	 –	 –	 200	 175	
–  Property expenses recharged from Top Energy Ltd	 	 –	 –	 88	 87	
			   –	 –	 3,197	 6,952

As 31 March 2014 Top Energy Ltd had made a provision of 
$1,451,000 (31 March 2013: $1,352,000) against the debt due 
from Phone Plus 2000 Ltd.

The balance shown as due from Ngawha G eneration Ltd at 
31 M arch 2013 is after giving effect to the amalgamation 
of Ngawha Geothermal Resource Co Ltd, which occured on 
that date.   Immediately prior to its amalgamation, Ngawha 
Geothermal Resource Co Ltd owed Top Energy Ltd $4,868,000.  

The above transactions were eliminated on consolidation. 
The following balances were owed to Top Energy Ltd by its 

The balance shown as due from Ngawha Generation Ltd at 31 
March 2014 is after giving effect to the amalgamation of Ngawha 
Properties Ltd, which occured on that date.  Immediately prior 
to its amalgamation, Ngawha Properties Ltd was owed $48,000 
by Top Energy Ltd.  

All transactions and balances between the P arent and its 
subsidiaries are eliminated on consolidation.

subsidiaries (owed by Top Energy Ltd to its subsidiaries) at the 
balance dates shown:

or payables in the Statement of Financial Position, as applicable.
The following related-party transactions occurred during the 
year between Top Energy Ltd and its subsidiaries:

(d) Other transactions with key management personnel or entities related to them

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Loans advanced to:
Grazing North Ltd		  –	 –	 6,193	 –	
Ngawha Generation Ltd	 	 –	 –	 45,514	 51,498	
Ngawha Properties Ltd	 	 –	 –	 –	 (1)	
Phone Plus 2000 Ltd	 	 –	 –	 2,057	 2,023	
			   –	 –	 53,764	 53,520
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			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Balance at 1 April		  1,528	 1,550	 1,528	 1,550	
Loan advanced from the Trust	 	 85	 75	 85	 75	
Loan repaid to the Trust	 	 (55)	 (97)	 (55)	 (97)	
Balance at 31 March		  1,558	 1,528	 1,558	 1,528	

(f) Loan from Parent – the Top Energy Consumer Trust

(g) Guarantees
The bank loans and overdraft are subject to a negative pledge 
that imposes certain covenants on a Guaranteeing Group that 
comprises all companies within the Group (except Ngawha 
Properties Ltd prior to its amalgamation).  The negative pledge 

(b) New Subsidiary
On 20 May 2013 Top Energy Ltd acquired the entire share capital 
of Grazing North Ltd.  The consideration was nil as the company 
had negative net assets.   Subsequent to the acquisition, the 
Group transferred land and other assets to Grazing North Ltd, 
at their carrying values.  

(h) Terms and conditions
Outstanding balances between G roup entities are unsecured 
and are repayable on demand.  

states that (subject to certain exceptions) the G uaranteeing 
Group will not provide any other security over its assets, and 
will ensure that various financial ratios are maintained.  Further 
details of those financial ratios are given at note 29.

Grazing North Ltd purchased a dairy farm on 30 May 2013.  The 
farm is located near to Kaikohe.   It is the Group’s intention to 
continue to operate the dairy farm for the foreseeable future.

On 31 March 2013 Ngawha Geothermal R esource Company 
Ltd was amalgamated into Ngawha Generation Ltd using the 
short‑form amalgamation process under the Companies Act 
1993.  U ntil the date of amalgamation, Ngawha Geothermal 
Resource Company Ltd had been a wholly-owned  subsidiary of 
Top Energy Ltd.  Under the amalgamation, Ngawha Generation 
Ltd took control of all of the assets of Ngawha Geothermal 
Resource Company Ltd and assumed responsibility for its 
liabilities.   Ngawha G eothermal R esource Company Ltd has 
been removed from the New Zealand register of companies.  
At 31 M arch 2013, the investment held by the P arent in 
Ngawha G eneration Ltd reflected the combined investment 
value of Ngawha Geothermal Resource Company Ltd.

On 31 March 2014 Ngawha Properties Ltd was amalgamated 
into Ngawha G eneration Ltd using the short‑form 
amalgamation process under the Companies Act 1993.  At the 
date of amalgamation, Ngawha P roperties Ltd was a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Top Energy Ltd.  Under the amalgamation, 
Ngawha G eneration Ltd took control of all of the assets of 
Ngawha P roperties Ltd and assumed responsibility for its 
liabilities.   Ngawha P roperties Ltd has been removed from 
the New Zealand register of companies.  At 31 March 2014, 
the investment held by the P arent in Ngawha G eneration 
Ltd reflected the combined investment value of Ngawha 
Properties Ltd. 

41  :  Business combinations
(a) Amalgamations
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		  	 	 2014	 2014
Parent company’s interests in its subsidiaries	 			   $’000	 $’000

Shares at cost less impairment losses
Shares in subsidiaries	 	 	 	 9,701	 9,400

43  :  Events occurring after the balance date

42  :  Investments in subsidiaries
The Group had the following subsidiaries at 31 March 2014

The companies listed above are directly‑held subsidiaries of 
Top Energy Ltd.  All subsidiary undertakings are included in 
the consolidation. The proportion of the voting rights in the 
subsidiary undertakings held directly by the Parent company 
do not differ from the proportion of ordinary shares held.  

There was no non‑controlling interest at 31 March 2014 (at 
31 March 2013: $162,000).   The non‑controlling interest at 
31 M arch 2013 comprised a minority holding in Ngawha 
Properties Ltd of 11.1%.  This was bought out by the Group 
effective 30 November 2013, at which point Ngawha Properties 
Ltd became a fully‑owned subsidiary of Top Energy Ltd.  

In the opinion of the Directors, there are no events occurring 
after the balance date which require disclosure in these 
financial statements.  

Ngawha P roperties Ltd was amalgamated into Ngawha 
Generation Ltd on 31 March 2014 and was removed from the 
register of New Zealand companies.  Consequently it is not 
included in the table above.

The non‑controlling interest in Ngawha P roperties Ltd was 
not material to the Group at 31 March 2013 nor during the 
subsequent period up until the date when it ceased.  

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, 
liabilities and results of the above subsidiaries in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in note 2(b):

		  Country of		  Proportion of	 Proportion of	 Proportion of	
		  incorporation		  ordinary shares	 ordinary shares	 ordinary shares
		  and place of		  directly held by	 held by the	 held by non‑
Name	 business	 Nature of business	  parent	  Group	 controlling interests
		  		  %	 %	 %

Grazing North Ltd	N ew Zealand	 Farming 	 100	 100	 –
Ngawha Generation Ltd	 New Zealand	 Electricity generation	 100	 100	 –
Phone Plus 2000 Ltd	N ew Zealand	 Call centre services	 100	 100	 –
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44  :  Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash inflow from operating activities

			   Consolidated		  Parent

		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Profit for the year		  11,062	 6,277	 7,478	 6,132	

Adjustments made for:	 	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Depreciation and amortisation charged	 	 14,864	 13,673	 8,827	 8,397	
Impairment of goodwill	 	 -	 80	 -	 80	
Net (gain) loss on sale of non‑current assets	 	 (94)	 63	 (94)	 65	
Fair value (gain) loss on biological assets	 	 (47)	 -	 -	 -	
Fair value (gains) / losses on other financial assets  
	 at fair value through profit or loss	 	 (6,642)	 943	 (6,614)	 943	

Changes in working capital:
Decrease (increase) in trade debtors 	 	 148	 (963)	 117	 4,228	
Decrease (increase) in inventories	 	 24	 322	 24	 243	
Decrease (increase) in other operating assets	 	 (369)	 18	 (216)	 (57)	
Increase (decrease) in trade creditors		  (1,238)	 1,699	 (1,319)	 928	
Increase (decrease) in other operating liabilities	 	 (330)	 (847)	 (38)	 (473)	
Increase (decrease) in income taxes payable	 	 1,977	 2,317	 2,079	 1,993	
Increase (decrease) in provision for deferred income tax	 1,827	 43	 1,710	 (136)	
(Deduct) add items reclassified as investing  
	 or financing activities	 	 -	 -	 170	 (4,811)	

Net cash inflow from operating activities		  21,182	 23,625	 12,124	 17,532
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Independent auditor’s report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE READERS OF
TOP ENERGY LIMITED AND GROUP’S

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND STATEMENT OF 
CORPORATE INTENT PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Top Energy Limited (the company) and group. The Auditor-
General has appointed me, Andrew Burgess, using the staff and resources of Deloitte, to carry out the 
audit of the financial statements and statement of corporate intent performance indicators of the 
company and group on her behalf.

We have audited:

- the financial statements of the company and group on pages 27 to 76, that comprise the 
statements of financial position as at 31 March 2014, the statements of comprehensive income, 
statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year ended on that date 
and the notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and other 
explanatory information; and

- the statement of corporate intent performance indicators of the company and group on page 11.

Opinion 

Financial statements and the statement of corporate intent performance indicators

In our opinion,

- the financial statements of the company and group on pages 27 to 76:

- comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;

- comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and

- give a true and fair view of the company and group’s:

- financial position as at 31 March 2014; and

- financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date;

- the statement of corporate intent performance indicators of the company and group on page 
11:

- complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

- gives a true and fair view of the company and group’s achievements measured against 
the performance targets adopted for the year ended 31 March 2014.
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Other legal requirements

In accordance with the Financial Reporting Act 1993 we report that, in our opinion, proper accounting 
records have been kept by the company and group as far as appears from an examination of those 
records.

Our audit was completed on 17 June 2014. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board of 
Directors and our responsibilities, and explain our independence.

Basis of opinion

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements and statement of corporate intent performance indicators are 
free from material misstatement. 

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that, in our 
judgement, are likely to influence readers’ overall understanding of the financial statements and
statement of corporate intent performance indicators. If we had found material misstatements that 
were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion.

An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements and statement of corporate intent performance indicators. The procedures 
selected depend on our judgement, including our assessment of risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements and statement of corporate intent performance indicators whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the preparation of the 
company and group’s financial statements and statement of corporate intent performance indicators
that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate. We consider internal control in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company and group’s internal control.

An audit also involves evaluating:

- the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been consistently 
applied;

- the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by the Board 
of Directors;

- the adequacy of all disclosures in the financial statements and statement of corporate intent 
performance indicators; and

- the overall presentation of the financial statements and statement of corporate intent 
performance indicators.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial 
statements and statement of corporate intent performance indicators. Also we did not evaluate the 
security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements.
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In accordance with the Financial Reporting Act 1993, we report that we have obtained all the 
information and explanations we have required. We believe we have obtained sufficient and 
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing financial statements and a statement of corporate 
intent performance indicators that:

- comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;

- give a true and fair view of the company and group’s financial position, financial performance 
and cash flows; and

- give a true and fair view of the company and group’s service performance achievements.

The Board of Directors is also responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements and a statement of corporate intent performance 
indicators that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of 
Directors is also responsible for the publication of the financial statements and statement of corporate 
intent performance indicators, whether in printed or electronic form.

The Board of Directors’ responsibilities arise from the Energy Companies Act 1992 and the Financial 
Reporting Act 1993.

Responsibilities of the Auditor

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and reporting 
that opinion to you based on our audit. Our responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit 
Act 2001 and section 45(1) of the Energy Companies Act 1992.

Independence

When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, 
which incorporate the independence requirements of the External Reporting Board.

Other than the audit and the provision of other assurance service, we have no relationship with or 
interests in the company or any of its subsidiaries.

Andrew Burgess
Deloitte
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Auckland, New Zealand
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